SEMMELWEIS EGYETEM DOKTORI ISKOLA

Ph.D. értekezések

2561.

BRENNER GÁBOR

Experimentális és klinikai farmakológia című program

Programvezető: Dr. Szökő Éva, egyetemi tanár Témavezető: Dr. Giricz Zoltán, tudományos főmunkatárs

NOVEL ASPECTS OF CARDIAC ISCHEMIA/REPERFUSION INJURY IN TRANSLATIONAL DRUG DEVELOPMENT

PhD thesis

Gábor Brenner, MD

Doctoral School of Pharmaceutical Sciences Semmelweis University





Supervisor:

Zoltán Giricz, PharmD, PhD

Official reviewers:

István Szokodi, MD, DSc Éva Ruisanchez, MD, PhD

Head of the Final Examination Committee: Kornélia Tekes, PharmD, DSc

Members of the Final Examination Committee: Dávid Becker, MD, PhD Péter Andrássy, MD, PhD

Budapest 2021

DOI:10.14753/SE.2022.2561

Table of contents

List of abbreviations
1. Introduction
1.1. Major reasons for attrition in drug development 7
1.2. Need for more sensitive screening methods for prediction of patient safety
and drug cardiotoxicities9
1.2.1. Drug development and its economic aspects 9
1.2.2. Significance of toxicity and clinical safety in attrition in drug development
10
1.2.3. Cardiotoxicity as one of the major cause of drug withdrawal and its
mechanisms
1.2.4. Routine preclinical assessment of drug cardiotoxicities and guidelines 15
1.2.5. New approaches and limitations of preclinical assessment of drug
cardiotoxicities
1.2.6. Definition of hidden cardiotoxicity
1.2.6.1. Mechanism of hidden cardiotoxicity, role of comorbidities
1.2.6.2. Hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib
1.3. Use of translational large animal models in the development of therapies for
post-myocardial infarction heart failure
1.3.1. Heart failure and post-myocardial infarction heart failure: significant
burden for societies
1.3.2. Cardioprotection, current treatment and future perspectives in treatment
of post-myocardial infarction heart failure
1.3.3. How to improve translation of cardioprotective and post-myocardial
infarction heart failure therapies?
1.3.4. Small and large animals as models of cardiovascular diseases including
myocardial infarction and post-myocardial infarction heart failure and
comparison to human characteristics
1.3.5. Comparison of different pig breeds and their use as models of post-
myocardial infarction
2. Objectives

	2.1.	Establishing a preclinical model with I/R to detect hidden cardiotoxicity of
	rofec	oxib
	2.2.	Characterization of post-MI HF pig model that resembles human pathology
		30
3.	Me	thods
4.	Res	sults
	4.1.	Chronic rofecoxib treatment increased acute mortality during cardiac
	ische	mia/reperfusion
	4.2.	Chronic rofecoxib treatment increased arrhythmia score in cardiac
	ische	mia/reperfusion
	4.3.	Rofecoxib decreased infarct size and did not interfere with cardioprotection
	by isc	hemic preconditioning
	4.4.	Rofecoxib increased the action potential duration in rat isolated papillary
	musc	les at the end of simulated ischemia/reperfusion and this effect was not
	obser	ved ischemic preconditioning group
	4.5.	Rofecoxib treatment increased viability of isolated adult rat cardiac
	myoc	ytes in normoxia and in simulated ischemia/reperfusion injury
	4.6.	Mortality rate did not change between the two pig breeds
	4.7.	Myocardial scar sizes were comparable between the two pig breeds 37
	4.8.	Increase in left ventricular mass was more pronounced in Landrace pigs
	durin	g follow-up
	4.9.	Left ventricular ejection fraction decreased only in Göttingen minipigs 39
	4.10.	Left atrial volume indexed to body surface area increased only in Göttingen
	minip	pigs, but both the breeds developed pulmonary edema following myocardial
	infar	ction
	4.11.	Increase in body weight was more pronounced in Landrace pigs during
	follov	v-up
	4.12.	Trends in cardiac functional parameters differ between Göttingen minipigs
	and I	andrace pigs
	4.13.	Increase in right ventricular morphofunctional parameters were observed
	in bo	th Göttingen minipigs and Landrace pigs
5.	Dis	cussion

6. Conclusions	
6.1. Hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib can be revealed by exp	perimental I/R
models	
6.2. Göttingen minipig model is superior to the Landrace pig	g in long-term
follow-up post-MI HF studies	
7. Summary	55
8. References	56
9. Bibliography of the candidate's publications	83
9.1. Own publications involved in the current thesis	
9.2. Own publications not involved in the current thesis	
10. Acknowledgements	85

List of abbreviations

ACC/AHA: American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association

ACEI: angiotensin-converting-enzyme inhibitors

AHA: American Heart Association

AMI: acute myocardial infarction

APD75: action potential duration at 75% of repolarization

ATC: Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical classification system

AUC: area under the curve

BARI: Bypass Angioplasty Revascularization Investigation Myocardial Jeopardy Index

BSA: body surface area

CABG: coronary-artery bypass grafting

CI: Cardiac index

CiPa: Comprehensive in vitro Proarrhythmia Assay

CK: creatine kinase

CK-MB: creatine kinase myocardial band

CMRI: cardiac magnetic resonance imaging

CO: cardiac output

COX-2: cyclooxygenase-2

CS: clinical safety

EMA: European Medicines Agency

ESC: European Society of Cardiology

FDA: U.S. Food and Drug Administration

GLP: good laboratory practice

HF: heart failure

HFrEF: HF with reduced ejection fraction

hiPSC-CMs: human induced pluripotent stem cell derived cardiomyocytes

hiPSCs: human induced pluripotent stem cells

HR: heart rate

h-SOD: recombinant human superoxide dismutase

I/R: ischemia/reperfusion

ICD: Implantable cardioverter-defibrillator

ICH: International Council for Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for

Pharmaceuticals for Human Use

IND: Investigational New Drug Process

IPC: ischemic preconditioning

IPOST: ischemic postconditioning

IS: infarct size

LAD: left anterior descending coronary artery

LAVi: left atrial volume indexed to body surface area

LV: left ventricle

LVED mass: left ventricular end-diastolic mass

LVEDV: left ventricular end-diastolic volume

LVEF: left ventricular ejection fraction

LVESV: left ventricular end-systolic volume

LVESVI: left ventricular end-systolic volume index

LVSV: left ventricular stroke volume

MACE: Major adverse cardiac events

MAP: mean arterial pressure

MRA: mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists

N2BA:N2B: titin element A and B

α-HBDH: alpha-ahydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase

NDA: New Drug Application

NSAID: nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug

NT-proBNP: N-terminal pro-B type natriuretic peptide

post-MI HF: post-myocardial infarction heart failure

PK: pharmacokinetics

PPCI: Primary percutaneous coronary intervention

PTCA: Percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty

RIC: remote ischemic conditioning

RIPC: remote ischemic preconditioning

RTCA: Real Time Cell Analysis

RVED: Right ventricular end-diastolic mass

RVEDV: right ventricular end-diastolic volume

DOI:10.14753/SE.2022.2561

RVEF: right ventricular ejection fraction

RVESV: right ventricular end-systolic volume

RVSV: right ventricular stroke volume

sGC: soluble guanylate cyclase

sIPC: simulated ischemic preconditioning

sI/R: simulated ischemia/reperfusion

SPECT: Single-photon emission computed tomography

STEMI: ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction

TnI: Troponin I

TnT: Troponin T

VF: ventricular fibrillation

VT: ventricular tachycardia

1. Introduction

1.1. Major reasons for attrition in drug development

Drug development is a time consuming, complex, and expensive process that consists of preclinical and clinical phases (1-3). Attrition in drug development in later phases, such as phase 3 and phase 4, may lead to high sunk costs, increased patient risks and waste of time of scientists (4). In addition, approximately 197.000 deaths are attributed to adverse drug reactions in the European Union annually (5) and nearly 500 medicinal products were withdrawn from the market worldwide (6).

Failure of drug development may occur due to several reasons (Table 1.) in different phases (1, 7, 8).

Table 1. Reasons for failure of drug development

Failure of drug development may occur in preclinical, clinical and both the phases. GLP: good laboratory practice.

Preclinical phase Lack of reliable screening methods for prediction of patient safety Lack of reliable screening methods for prediction of drug efficacy in patients Insufficient knowledge of underlying biological mechanisms of diseases Inability to reproduce non-GLP preclinical studies Use of inadequate animal models and animal models that may not recapitulate an entire disease Differences in endpoints between the preclinical and clinical studies Experiments are performed in young and healthy animals without comorbidities, comedications and risk factors which fail to mimic the "real-world" situation Clinical phase Failing to demonstrate safety and efficacy Entering the clinical phase when preclinical data were inconsistent Issues with dosing, timing and route of administration of therapies Problems related to study design (eligibility criteria, patient recruitment, underpowered trials, lack of valid biomarkers and surrogate endpoints) High heterogeneity of patient populations Lack of funding for clinical trials **Both phases:** Inadequate collaboration among academic researchers, industry, and government - hiding the neutral or negative data

From the reasons detailed above, the leading causes of attrition in drug development programs are related to unexpected cardiotoxicity and failure of translation of preclinical efficacy (1, 9-11).

Some cardiotoxic effects may manifest only in the presence of cardiac diseases, e.g., in myocardial ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) conditions and/or in the presence of cardiovascular comorbidities and comedications. Since they remain undetected during preclinical and early clinical toxicology and safety studies, we termed this phenomenon "hidden cardiotoxicity" (12). Hidden cardiotoxicity fails to be detected, since the current International Council for Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use (ICH) guidelines require the assessment of drug safety only in healthy animals and healthy human volunteers (13-15). In clinical trials, cardiotoxic adverse events often occur in patients with cardiac diseases and/or with cardiovascular comorbidities, e.g., hyperlipidemia, hyperglycemia, hypertension, aging or inflammatory diseases (16, 17).

High attrition rates in drug development and frequent clinical safety issues suggest that more sensitive methods that, e.g., model disease states are required for toxicity studies, including *in vivo*, *ex vivo* and *in vitro* models of myocardial I/R and/or comorbidities.

Another important aspect of attrition in drug development is related to failure of translating preclinical efficacy to clinical efficacy. To date, reperfusion therapy is the only available treatment option to reduce the risk of post-myocardial infarction heart failure (post-MI HF) (18). A plethora of cardioprotective therapies effective even in large animal models have been described. Since failure rate of translation of efficacy to clinical phases is still considerable, there is a need for bridging the translational gap between preclinical and clinical trials. Potential reasons of the failed translation of the preclinical data might be the use of suboptimal post-MI HF animal models with low clinical relevance (19).

Clinically relevant pig models with long-term follow up and serial cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (CMRI) of post-MI HF are prerequisites for final proof-of-concept studies before entering into clinical trials in drug and medical device development.

Therefore, this thesis will focus on two relevant aspects of failure of drug development in preclinical phase. The first aspect is the lack of reliable screening methods that include comorbidities such as cardiac I/R for the prediction of patient safety with particular focus on drug-induced cardiotoxicities. The second aspect is related to the need to characterize

8

a clinically relevant translational pig model, which is a prerequisite for final proof-ofconcept studies before entering into clinical trials in drug and medical device development, with particular focus on post-MI HF.

1.2. Need for more sensitive screening methods for prediction of patient safety and drug cardiotoxicities

1.2.1. Drug development and its economic aspects

Low success rate is accompanied by high costs of drug development (1-3). The entire process lasts 8-12 years, with 1.3 billion USD estimated average cost per new approved compound (20-22). The likelihood that a drug that enters clinical trials will be approved was estimated to be about 12% (20). Therefore, early detection of toxicities reduces sunk costs, patient risks and enables companies to develop a higher number of marketable compounds (4). The phases of drug development, attrition rates, average duration, number of involved patients and cumulating of costs are shown in Figure 1.



Figure 1. Preclinical and clinical phases of drug development with attrition rates, costs and risks to patients

Figure was prepared based on information and figures from references (9, 12, 23-26). Potential benefits of early, preclinical prediction of drug toxicities by establishing new methods may lead to potential savings of drug development cost and patient benefit by increase of patient safety. IND: Investigational New Drug Process; FDA: U.S. Food and Drug Administration; NDA: New Drug Application.

Since the drug-induced toxicities are among the leading causes attrition in drug development, we need better and more sensitive methods for their prediction to prevent loss of time, money and impact a patient's health, thus to increase productivity and safety of patients.

1.2.2. Significance of toxicity and clinical safety in attrition in drug development

Discontinuation of a drug development program may occur in preclinical, clinical phases and in post-market follow-up.

DOI:10.14753/SE.2022.2561

An analysis of drug candidates from 4 pharmaceutical companies showed that major sources of the attrition in drug development were related to preclinical toxicology and clinical safety reasons in period from 2000-2010 (27). Development of more than 20% of AstraZeneca's potential new medicines have been stopped for safety reasons at entry in preclinical GLP stage of toxicology testing (24).

In the past, pharmacokinetic and bioavailability issues played a significant role in failure of drug development. Since the 2000s, lack of efficacy and toxicity have become the leading causes, together accounting for about 60% of drug attritions (Figure 2) (9, 10).



Figure 2. Reasons for attrition in drug development in different periods Figure was adapted from reference (10) and (9). Reasons for attrition in drug development in 1991 and 2000. Safety reasons were the major causes of attrition in drug development. T: toxicology; CS: clinical safety; PK: pharmacokinetics.

An analysis of compounds entering first-in-man phase showed that the average success rate of development for all therapeutic areas was approximately 11% and the rate of failures was approximately 62% in Phase II and approximately 45% in Phase III trials (9). And finally, over 90% of the market withdrawals of drugs were related to drug toxicities (28).

Given that the rate of attrition in drug development due to clinical safety and toxicology issues is still high in last decades, more sensitive methods are needed to identify risk preclinically.

1.2.3. Cardiotoxicity as one of the major cause of drug withdrawal and its mechanisms

Causes of drug withdrawals were investigated in several publications. The percentage of occurrence of cardiotoxicities and hepatotoxicities, as the most frequents causes of toxicities, varied based on geographic area, examined time periods, and number of investigated drugs (Table 2).

Table 2. Proportions of cardiotoxicity and hepatotoxicity as the major causes of drugswithdrawals in different publications

Authors	Examined area	Examined period	Number of drugs	Withdrawa Cardiotoxicity	l cause in % Hepatotoxicity
Mcnaughton et al, 2014 (29)	European Union	2002-2011	19	47%	21%
P. La Rochelle et al, 2016 (30)	USA	1976-2010	34	44%	15%
Wilke et al, 2007 (31)	USA	1976-2005	28	28%	21%
Lexchin, 2014 (32)	Canada	1990-2009	19	37%	32%
Lexchin, 2005 (33)	Canada	1963-2005	41	20%	20%
Shah, 2006 (34)	Worldwide	1990-2006	38	45%	37%
Stevens and Baker, 2009 (35)	Worldwide	1975-2007	47	45%	32%
Onakpoya et al, 2016 (6)	Worldwide	1953-2013	462	14%	18%
Siramshetty et al, 2016 (36)	Worldwide	-	270	16%	21%

What can be clearly seen in Table 2 is that the rate of withdrawal due to cardiotoxicities reported in publications ranges between 14 and 47%, which highlights the relevance of studying the potential causes and mechanisms of cardiotoxicities from preclinical to post-approval phases of drug development.

Various mechanisms of cardiotoxicities were described as causes of drug withdrawals and drugs were prescribed for various indications. One of the most comprehensive summary of withdrawn drugs and mechanisms of toxicities were published by Onakpoya et al. (6). An abbreviated summary of withdrawn drugs and mechanisms of cardiotoxicities are shown in Table 3.

Table 3. Ranking according to ATC (Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical ATC classification system) anatomical group of drugs withdrawn in Europe and/or USA from the market due to cardiotoxicities

Table was modified from reference (6) and reference (36). ?: drug has no ATC code but the ATC anatomical main group is evident.

Drug	ATC anatomical main group	ATC pharmacological subgroup	Mechanism of cardiotoxicity
amfepramone	A	antiobesity preparation	primary pulmonary hypertension, valve disorder
benfluorex	А	blood glucose lowering drugs	risk of heart valve disease
cisapride	А	propulsives	arrhytmias, QT-prolongation
dexfenfluramine	А	antiobesity preparation	pulmonary hypertension, heart valve disease
dolansetron	А	antiemetics and antinauseants	arrhythmias, QT-prolongation, torsade de pointes
domperidone (injectable)	А	propulsives	arrhythmias, cardiac arrest
fenfluramine	А	antiobesity preparation	heart valve disease and pulmonary hypertension, cardiac fibrosis
rosiglitazone	А	blood glucose lowering drugs	exacerbate congestive heart failure
sibutramine	А	antiobesity preparation	increased risk of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular events
tegaserod	А	drugs for constipation	increased risk of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular events
cloforex	А	antiobesity preparation	pulmonary hypertension
aprotinin	В	antifibrinolytics	heart failure, myocardial infarction
adesnosine phosphate	С	other cardiac preparations	cardiovascular?
bepridil	С	calcium channel blockers	ventricular arrhythmias, torsade de pointes
buflomedil	С	peripheral vasodilator	accelerated heart rate and cardiac arrest
dofetilide C antiarrhythmics, QT-p		QT-prolongation, drug interactions	
encainide	С	antiarrhythmics, class I and III	increased death rates in patients who had asymptomatic heart rhythm abnormalities after a recent heart attack
naftidrofuryl oxalate	С	peripheral vasodilators	arrhythmias

DOI:10.14753/SE.2022.2561

	Drug	ATC anatomical main group	ATC pharmacological subgroup	Mechanism of cardiotoxicity
	prenylamine	C	vasodilators used in cardiac diseases	arrhythmias, QT-prolongation, multifocal ventricular tachycardia
probucol C		С	lipid modifying agents	arrhythmias, QT-prolongation, torsade de pointes
	terodiline	G	urologicals	arrhythmias, QT-prolongation
	grepafloxacin	J	antiinfectives for systemic use	arrhythmias, QT-prolongation
	sparfloxacin	J	antiinfectives for systemic use	arrhythmias, QT-prolongation
	parecoxib	М	antiinflammatory and antirheumatic products, non- steroids	myocardial infarction, cerebrovascular accident
	rofecoxib	М	antiinflammatory and antirheumatic products, non- steroids	increased risk of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular events
	valdecoxib	М	antiinflammatory and antirheumatic products, non- steroids	myocardial infarction, cerebrovascular accident
	droperidol	Ν	antipsychotics	arrhythmias, QT-prolongation
	levacetylmethadol	Ν	drugs used in addictive disorders	torsade de pointes
	pergolide	Ν	dopaminergic agents	risk for heart valve damage
	propoxyphene	Ν	opioids	serious or even fatal heart rhythm abnormalities
	sertindole	Ν	antipsychotics	arrhythmias, QT-prolongation, increased risk of sudden cardiac death
	thioridazine	Ν	antipsychotics	arrhythmias
	astemizole	R	antihistamines for systemic use	arrhytmias, QT-prolongation
	clobutinol	R	cough suppressants	arrhythmias, QT-prolongation
	orciprenalin (metaproterenol)	R	adrenergics, inhalants	palpitations and tachycardia
	terfenadine	R	antihistamines for systemic use	arrhythmias, QT-prolongation
	methylhexanamine (dimethylamylamine)	R?	used as nasal decongestant	heart attack, stroke, death
	technetium (⁹⁹ mtc) fanolesomab	V?	used as diagnostic radiopharmaceutic al	life-threatening cardiopulmonary events including cardiac arrest, hypoxia, dyspnea and hypotension

Out of 38 substances from Table 3, 11 drugs (29%) were acting on alimentary tract and metabolism (anatomical main group A), 8 (21%) on cardiovascular system (anatomical main group C), 6 (16%) were used for nervous system (anatomical main group N), 5

(13%) for respiratory system (anatomical main group R), 3 (8%) for musculo-skeletal system (anatomical main group M), 2 (5%) drugs were from the group of anti-infectives for systemic use (anatomical main group J) and 1 drug (3%) was either in the group for blood and blood forming organs (anatomical main group B), or from group of drugs used in genito-urinary system (group G) from group of various compounds (group V). Focusing on the mechanism of cardiovascular toxicities, we can conclude that the use of the majority (58%) of compounds led to cardiac arrhythmias.

We can conclude that a considerable number of drugs were withdrawn from the market due to cardiotoxicities predominantly due to proarrhythmic events. This indicates a need for a better understanding of the mechanisms of toxicities and to further improve screening methods to reveal those toxicities.

1.2.4. Routine preclinical assessment of drug cardiotoxicities and guidelines

For screening of cardiotoxicities several widely used methods were developed. Cardiotoxicity screening is well regulated by the FDA and the European Medicines Agency (EMA) and harmonized by ICH guidelines (37). The ICH brings together the regulatory authorities and pharmaceutical industry to discuss scientific and technical aspects of drug registration with the mission to ensure that safe, effective and high quality medicines are developed and registered worldwide. Harmonization means publication of guidelines, with the current latest version, the ICH E6 (R2) Good Clinical Practice guideline. The ICH topics are divided into four categories with different topic codes: Q (Ouality Guidelines). S (Safety Guidelines), E (Efficacy Guidelines) and M (Multidisciplinary Guidelines).

Preclinical *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies are described under the safety (S) topic which will be the focus of current thesis. The ICH safety topic is subdivided into 12 subtopics. The most relevant safety subtopics that are related to the focus of the current thesis are shown in Table 4 (37).

DOI:10.14753/SE.2022.2561

Table 4. Summary of the safety subtopics of the ICH (International Council for Harmonisation of Technical Requirements for Pharmaceuticals for Human Use) guidelines that are related to the focus of current thesis

ICH summarizes safety guidelines to uncover potential risks like carcinogenicity, genotoxicity, reprotoxicity, testing strategy for assessing the QT interval prolongation and others.

ICH subtopic	The subtopic regulates		
S3A and S3B	Toxicokinetics and Pharmacokinetics		
S4	Duration of chronic toxicity testing		
S6 (R1)	Preclinical safety evaluation of biotechnology-derived pharmaceuticals		
S7A	Safety pharmacology studies		
S7B	Describes a non-clinical testing strategy for assessing the potential of a test substance to delay ventricular repolarization		
S9	Nonclinical evaluation for anticancer pharmaceuticals		

Despite the detailed safety regulations, withdrawals due to drug cardiotoxicities are still occurring. This highlights the limitations of the current methods and the need for the development of novel assay systems to predict cardiotoxicity.

1.2.5. New approaches and limitations of preclinical assessment of drug cardiotoxicities

Detection of unsafe compounds in early stage of drug development by cardiotoxicity screening could reduce attrition rates, risk to patients and also money and time spent on drug development (4). Several new methodologies are trying to achieve these goals and to improve imperfections of currently available cardiotoxicity screening tests.

Adult somatic human cells reprogrammed into pluripotent stem cells (hiPSCs) and beating cardiomyocytes (hiPSC-CMs) can be used for drug cardiotoxicity screening in terms of arrhythmias, contractile dysfunction and structural abnormalities (38, 39). The hiPSC-CMs can be also used for estimation of drug effects on structural cardiotoxicity (4). In addition, serious limitations of the available *in vitro* blockade of Kv11.1 current (hERG current or IKr) in non-human cells or tissues can be avoided by use of recently proposed CiPa (Comprehensive *in vitro* Proarrhythmia Assay) assay. CiPa assay estimates proarrhythmic risk based on *in silico* reconstruction of human ventricular electric activity and the results are confirmed in human stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes

(hSC-CMs) (4). The hiPSC-CMs were also able to model diseases such as dilated cardiomyopathy (40), hypertrophic cardiomyopathy (41), chemotherapy-induced cardiomyopathy (42) and other diseases (for review see reference (43)). Despite the great advantages of use of human derived cells, this methodology has inherent limitations. Since the beating heart consists of diverse cell types, the lack of heterogeneity of cells may be an issue when stem cells are used for prediction of toxicities. Three-dimensional artificial tissues and mixing of different cell types may counter the limitations of cellbased assays (44, 45). The hiPSC-based monolayer and heart-on-a-chip platforms can be useful for cardiac functional assessment as well (46). In vitro repeated exposure toxicity testing of doxorubicin on hiPSC-CMs was performed to identify genomics biomarkers using microarrays and bioinformatics tools (47). Different cardiotoxic drugs altered the contractile properties of hiPS-CMs estimated by video microscopy-based motion field imaging (48). A biomarker, Rps6kb1 gene, that may predict cardiotoxicity was revealed by the use of Real Time Cell Analysis (RTCA) PCR Array technology in primary rat cardiomyocytes (49). Extracellular miRNAs were also explored as potential biomarkers for evaluation of cardiotoxicities (50).

To summarize, many different methodologies are under development for predicting druginduced cardiotoxicities with particular focus on hiPSCs. Implementation of these methodologies will be time consuming and standardization of protocols are required. It is still challenging to overcome the major shortcoming of cell-based assays, the lack of heterogeneity of cells, that would be able to mimic the complexity of a cardiac tissue. Most of the aforementioned predictive screening methodologies are performed in "healthy" cells, tissues and organisms, completely ignoring the composition and complexity of a "real world" patient population that includes individuals with multiple comorbidities and comedications that may affect the outcome of the cardiotoxicity screening. E.g., a medium throughput cell-based hypercholesterolemia model was developed recently to mimic hypercholesterolemic conditions (51). Evaluation of drugs in hypercholesterolemic conditions may give valuable information and may predict cardiotoxicities in metabolic comorbid patients. Therefore, modeling of cardiovascular diseases and risk factors would be beneficial to incorporate into new guidelines, since many drug-induced toxicities occur in diseased patients and remain hidden during drug development.

1.2.6. Definition of hidden cardiotoxicity

With the aim of differentiating overt toxicity from toxicity that can be triggered by disease states, the novel concept of hidden cardiotoxicity was introduced by our working group. Hidden cardiotoxicity is by definition a cardiotoxic effect that remain undetected during preclinical and clinical safety studies, but may become obvious in the presence of cardiac diseases, e.g., I/R injury, other diseases, or use of different drugs (12).

1.2.6.1. Mechanism of hidden cardiotoxicity, role of comorbidities

Hidden cardiotoxicity can manifest as ischemia-related lethal myocardial injury and/or as I/R-induced arrhythmias and/or as cardiac contractile dysfunction. Potential mechanisms of hidden cardiotoxicity (Figure 3) may include activation of cell death- or pro-arrhythmic processes during diseased states such as cardiac I/R. Drugs with hidden cardiotoxicities may also inhibit cardioprotective signaling pathways (as seen in, e.g., ischemic conditioning-induced protection). All the aforementioned mechanisms might be aggravated in the presence of comorbidities and comedications (12).



Figure 3. Mechanism of hidden cardiotoxicity

Figure was adapted from reference (12). Ischemia/reperfusion injury, cardiovascular risk factors and comedications may unmask the cardiotoxicity of drugs by inhibiting cell survival signaling or activating deleterious cardiac cell signaling As per definition, drugs listed in Table 3 may have hidden cardiotoxic properties, since their toxicities were not revealed in preclinical and clinical safety screening. The withdrawal of rofecoxib due to safety concerns had high impact on the future of pharmaceutical industry. Rofecoxib and its toxicities will be discussed in detail below.

1.2.6.2. Hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib

Rofecoxib, a nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) from the group of selective cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) inhibitors, was withdrawn from the market in 2004 due to an increased risk of cardiovascular adverse effects observed in the VIGOR and APPROVe trials (52, 53). A cumulative meta-analysis involving 42.174 patients concluded that rofecoxib should have been withdrawn several years earlier (54). Later, in another meta-analysis by Zhang et al, that included 116.094 participants, it was shown that the use of rofecoxib was associated with increased risk of arrhythmias (55). Later other details and mechanisms of cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib were revealed including inhibition of protection against I/R injury, prevention of production of epi-lipoxins, increase in blood pressure, inhibition of vascular remodeling (56). Since none of the aforementioned cardiotoxicities had been revealed in preclinical and clinical safety assessment of rofecoxib, according to our definition, rofecoxib had hidden cardiotoxic properties.

In addition, according to the scientific statement of the American Heart Association (AHA) the use of COX-2 inhibitors should be avoided in HF patients, since they may exacerbate underlying myocardial dysfunction (16). The explanation for this recommendation is that inhibition of prostaglandin synthesis leads to sodium- and water retention, increased systemic vascular resistance, and reduced response to diuretics (16). In a cohort study including 107.092 patients surviving their first hospitalization because of HF, the use of COX-2 inhibitors and other NSAIDs was associated with increased risk of death and cardiovascular morbidity (57).

From details above we can conclude that early detection of hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib could have reduce a number of serious adverse events that appeared only in phase IV trials.

Since the hidden cardiotoxicity of an unknown number of drugs, including rofecoxib, remained unrevealed during preclinical safety assessment, there is a need to develop novel

methods to predict cardiotoxicities of drugs using *in vivo*, *ex vivo* and *in vitro* disease models such as I/R injury and to assess effect of drugs on intrinsic cardioprotection, e.g., elicited by ischemic preconditioning (IPC).

1.3. Use of translational large animal models in the development of therapies for post-myocardial infarction heart failure

1.3.1. Heart failure and post-myocardial infarction heart failure: significant burden for societies

European Society of Cardiology (ESC) defined HF as "a clinical syndrome characterized by typical symptoms (e.g. breathlessness, ankle swelling and fatigue) that may be accompanied by signs (e.g. elevated jugular venous pressure, pulmonary crackles and peripheral edema) caused by a structural and/or functional cardiac abnormality, resulting in a reduced cardiac output and/or elevated intracardiac pressures at rest or during stress" (58). However, this definition should be updated, since significant portion of patients do not present signs and symptoms in early stages of HF and if using diuretic treatment. Also, the classification of HF is based on measurement of left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF), elevated levels of N-terminal pro-B type natriuretic peptide (NT-proBNP) and presence of relevant structural heart disease and/or diastolic dysfunction (58), which is widely used in the literature but not directly included in the definition of HF.

HF affects 26 million patients worldwide and results in 1 million hospitalizations in both the USA and Europe each year (59). The prevalence of HF is 1-2% of the adult population in developed countries and is beyond 10% in patients >70 years of age (60-63). Worldwide distribution and prevalence of HF is shown in Figure 4.

DOI:10.14753/SE.2022.2561



Figure 4. Worldwide distribution and prevalence of heart failure Figure was adapted from web reference (64). Heart failure is a major public health issue affecting 26 million people worldwide.

About 14% of patients develop HF as a complication of acute myocardial infarction (AMI), hereinafter referred to as post-MI HF, and the cumulative HF rates are approximately 24% in patients surviving myocardial infarction at 1 year (65). In a review by Hellermann et al, the average in-hospital incidence of HF was 27.5% following myocardial infarction (66). Several mechanisms contribute to post-MI HF. Schematic progression of coronary artery disease to HF is shown in Figure 5 (67).



Figure 5. Progression of myocardial ischemia or infarction to heart failure

Figure was adapted from reference (67). Development of heart failure over time includes acute and late phases finally leading to decreased functional capacity.

HF is associated with worse outcome when fully developed and leads to increased morbidity and mortality. Despite the decreasing trend in mortality of AMI the incidence of HF has not decreased with implementation of novel therapeutic strategies (68). This fact highlights a strong need for development of new therapies to improve clinical outcome of post-MI HF (69).

1.3.2. Cardioprotection, current treatment and future perspectives in treatment of post-myocardial infarction heart failure

HF is one of the most powerful predictors of death in myocardial infarction patients (70). Prevention of onset of AMI would be the primary goal to avoid post-MI HF. If myocardial infarction occurs, reperfusion therapy is the only available treatment option to reduce infarct size (IS) and the risk of a subsequent HF (58, 71). Paradoxically, HF and other complications may arise from the detrimental effects of current standard treatment, i.e., reperfusion therapy, which is known as I/R injury (72, 73). Thus, there is still an unmet need for development of cardioprotective strategies (both pharmacological and non-pharmacological) beyond successful reperfusion to reduce I/R injury. I/R injury may manifest as a progressive irreversible tissue injury resulting in increase in myocardial IS. Since myocardial IS is strongly associated with all-cause mortality and hospitalization for HF within 1 year after primary percutaneous coronary intervention (PPCI) (74), cardioprotective strategies would be able to improve clinical outcomes in patients, preserve cardiac contractile function, reduce IS, therefore, the onset of HF (75).

More than 6400 articles on cardioprotection and prevention of HF were published since 1975 (76). Despite more than 3 decades of preclinical and clinical proof-of-concept studies that have shown that cardioprotection leads to IS reduction (Table 5), improve in clinical outcomes and translation of therapies into patients' benefit failed or were disappointing (76-78).

22

Table 5. Summary of most important clinical studies including more than 100 patients which have failed to demonstrate patients benefit of cardioprotective therapies after acute myocardial infarction

IS: infarct size; h-SOD: recombinant human superoxide dismutase; PTCA: Percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty; STEMI: ST-Elevation Myocardial Infarction; AMI: acute myocardial infarction; PPCI: Primary percutaneous coronary intervention; AUC: area under the curve; α-HBDH: alpha-ahydroxybutyrate dehydrogenase; CK: creatine kinase; LVEF: left ventricular ejection fraction; CMRI: cardiac magnetic resonance imaging; CK-MB: creatine kinase myocardial band; TnT: Troponin T; SPECT: Single-photon emission computed tomography; IPOST: ischemic postconditioning; LVESVI: left ventricular end-systolic volume index; TnI: Troponin I; LVEDV: left ventricular end-diastolic volume; LVESV: left ventricular end-systolic volume; HF: heart failure; RIC: remote ischemic conditioning

Study name/year of publication	Treatment	Number of patients	Outcome
SPRINT II/1993 (79)	Nifedipine usually within 3 hours of hospital admission	1006	No effect on IS, increased mortality
h-SOD with PTCA in Acute MI/1994 (80)	h-SOD before PTCA in STEMI patients	120	No improvement in left ventricular function
TAMI9/1994 (81)	Perfluorochemical emulsion (Fluosol) given with thrombolysis in AMI patients	430	No decrease IS or increase in left ventricular function
EMIP-FR/2000 (82)	Trimetazidine prior to thrombolysis followed by 48 h infusion	19 725	No difference in mortality at 35 days
ESCAMI/2001 (83)	Eniporide infusion prior to PPCI or after thrombolysis	2118	No difference in the IS (72 h AUC α-HBDH)
MAGIC/2002 (84)	Magnesium prior to reperfusion followed by 24 h infusion	6213	No difference in mortality at 30 days
CREATE-ECLA/2005 (85)	Glucose-insulin-potassium infusion for 24 h started after reperfusion in the majority of cases	20 201	No difference in mortality at 30 days
J-WIND-KTP/2007 (86)	Nicorandil bolus then 72 h infusion started after reperfusion	545	No difference in the IS (72 h AUC total CK) or 6 month LVEF
APEX-MI/2007 (87)	Pexelizumab bolus given prior to PPCI followed by infusion for 24 h	5745	No difference in all-cause death at 30 days
FIRE/2009 (88)	FX06 bolus given prior to PPCI and then repeated 10 min later	232	No difference in the IS by CMRI at 5 days or 4 months
HEBE-III/2010 (89)	Epoetin-alpha after (within 3 h) PPCI	529	No difference in the LVEF at 6 weeks. No difference in the IS (AUC CK-MB or TnT)
REVIVAL-3/2010 (90)	Epoetin-beta immediately after PPCI repeated 24 and 48 h later	138	No difference in LVEF at 6 months assessed by CMRI. No difference in the IS (5 days and 6 month CMRI)
REVEAL/2011 (91)	Epoetin-alpha immediately after PPCI repeated 24 and 48 h later	223	No difference in the IS by CMRI within 6 days and at 3 months
Atorvastatin pretreatment in STEMI/2011 (92)	Oral atorvastatin prior to PPCI and daily thereafter	173	No difference in the IS at 5–14 days using SPECT

Study name/year of publication	name/year of Treatment		Outcome
VIVIFY/2013 (93)	Ivabradine bolus over 30 s, followed by infusion over 8 h after PPCI	124	Lower LVEDV and LVESV, no change in LVEF
PROTECTION-AMI/2014 (94)	Delcasertib infusion before PPCI and continued for 2.5 h	1176	No difference in the IS measured by CK-MB AUC
CHILL-MI/2014 (95)	Hypothermia initiated before PCI and continued for 1 h after reperfusion	120	No effect on IS or LVEF, reduced death and HF at 45 days
NIAMI/2014 (96)	Sodium nitrite over 5 min before PPCI	229	No decrease in IS, no effect on LVEF
MITOCARE Study/2015 (97)	TRO40303 (n = 83) bolus injection prior to PPCI	163	No effect on IS or LVEF
CIRCUS/2015 (98)	Cyclosporine bolus injection before PPCI	970	No effect on deaths, HF or left ventricular remodeling
EMBRACE STEMI/2016 (99)	MTP-131 before PPCI for 1 h following reperfusion	297	No effect on IS by CK-MB AUC 0- 72 h
CYCLE/2016 (100)	Cyclosporine A bolus before PPCI	410	No resolution of ST-segment, no effect on TnT at day 4 and remodeling at 6 months
EARLY-BAMI/2016 (101)	Metoprolol in bolus PPCI	683	No effect on IS measured by CMRI
MARIA/2017 (102)	Melatonin during PPCI	146	No effect on IS by CMRI, worsened LVEF evolution and LVEDV and LVESV
DANAMI-3–iPOST/2017 (103)	IPOST by 4x30 s angioplasty balloon inflation/deflation after PPCI	1234	Failed to reduce death from any cause and hospitalization for HF
NOMI/2018 (104)	Nitric oxide for inhalation starting before PPCI and for 4 h following PPCI	250	No effect on IS at 48-72h
CONDI-2/ERIC- PPCI/2019 (105)	RIC 4x5-min inflation/deflation of an automated cuff device before PPCI	5401	No improvement in cardiac death or hospitalization for HF at 12 months, no effect on IS by AUC 0–48 h

From the above Table 5 we can conclude that despite the still ongoing high interest to develop cardioprotective drug and intervention, besides the high number of failure to show efficacy there is no cardioprotective drug and intervention on the market.

In addition to Table 5, it is notable to mention that other drug/interventional therapies are being tested, but the results are not presented yet or the study was terminated or the number of involved patients was lower than 100. Such drug and interventional approaches are with adenosine (NCT00781404, promising primary results were published only (106)), Impella 2.5 (NCT01319760), sodium nitrite (107), exenatide (108), remote perpostconditioning (109), anti CD18 monoclonal antibody (110), desferoxamine (111), mangafodipir (112), sevoflurane (113) and insulin-like growth factor (114). In addition to AMI, translation of cardioprotection in settings of elective cardiac surgeries also failed.

The 2 most prominent phase III trials with neutral outcomes on efficacy of remote ischemic conditioningwere the ERICCA and RIPHeart trials (115, 116).

Although cardioprotective treatments do not show significant benefit as of now, evidence-based therapy and novel drugs are available for treatment of symptoms, prevention of rehospitalization and reduction in mortality.

According to the latest ESC guidelines on HF treatment, the evidence based therapy of patient with myocardial infarction include immediate administration of angiotensinconverting-enzyme inhibitors (ACEI), a beta-blocker and a mineralocorticoid receptor antagonists (MRA) after a myocardial infarction, especially when it is associated with left ventricular systolic dysfunction. This therapy is able to reduce the rate of hospitalization for HF and mortality. Implantable cardioverter-defibrillator (ICD) is recommended to prolong life in asymptomatic patients with LVEF <30% of ischemic origin who are \geq 40 days after an AMI (58). In addition to above detailed conventional therapy, new pharmacological modalities have come in the focus of interest recently such as angiotensin receptor/neprilysin inhibitors (ARNIs) (58, 117-119), sodium-glucose co-transporter 2 inhibitors (120-122), soluble guanylate cyclase (sGC) stimulator (123) and inhibitor of the If channel (58, 124).

Although different treatment options are available for post-MI HF, the high incidence of mortality and rehospitalization shows that there is still an unmet need for development of new drugs to prevent rehospitalization, to decrease mortality and to improve symptoms and outcome in post-MI HF patients (68, 125).

1.3.3. How to improve translation of cardioprotective and post-myocardial infarction heart failure therapies?

As mentioned above, the leading causes of attrition in drug development programs are related to unexpected cardiotoxicity and failure of translation of preclinical efficacy (1, 9-11). Since failure rate of translation of efficacy to clinical phases is still considerable, there is a need for bridging the translational gap between preclinical and clinical trials. The way how to improve translation is a focus of great interest. According to ESC working group on cellular biology, improvement of the preclinical assessment of novel cardioprotective therapies is needed (126). Potential reasons for failed translation in terms

of efficacy of cardioprotective therapies, therapies of HF and potential solutions are shown in Table 6 (19, 126).

Table 6. Potential reasons for the failed translation of cardioprotective and post-MI HF therapies

Suggested opportunities for improving the likelihood of success of translation. MACE: Major adverse cardiac events; LV: left ventricle; CMRI: cardiac magnetic resonance imaging

Potential reason for failure of translation	Factors to consider	Potential solution	
Inadequate study design	Infarct size is the primary endpoint Lack of randomization and blinding	Use clinically relevant endpoints (MACE, survival, LV remodeling, LV function with CMRI) Randomization and blinding	
Inappropriate experimental model	Model that better represents the patients with myocardial infarction	Use closed-chest large animal models	
Inappropriate experimental protocol	Duration of ischemia/reperfusion Route and timing of drug administration	Use clinically relevant parameters (ischemia time, long-term follow up), administer cardioprotective drug before or at onset of reperfusion	
Confounding factors are not considered	Gender, age, comorbidities, comedications	Consider inclusion confounding factors in studies	

In addition to Table 6, a guideline on the relevance of rigor and reproducibility in preclinical studies on cardioprotection recommends CMRI as a clinically relevant model for measurement of ventricular function in pigs (127).

Based on aforementioned observations, it can be concluded that for higher translational efficacy the use of large animal model, e.g., pigs, and clinically relevant protocols and study designs are needed. In the next chapter the relevance of the use of large animal models with clinically relevant endpoints and protocols will be emphasized.

1.3.4. Small and large animals as models of cardiovascular diseases including myocardial infarction and post-myocardial infarction heart failure and comparison to human characteristics

Beside the use of cell-based *in vitro* assays and *ex vivo* isolated perfused heart models of I/R injury to screen novel cardioprotective therapy, it is essential to demonstrate efficacy in small and large in vivo animal models. Small-sized rodents, particularly mice and rats, are extensively used in cardioprotection studies, mainly due to short gestation time, low costs and easier handling rather than clinical relevance. In addition, genome of mice and rats are well-characterized and easy to manipulate. Since some cardioprotective strategies effective in murine models showed their efficacy in small proof of concept clinical studies and since ICH guidelines require their use in drug development programs, the use of rat and mouse models remained essential in cardiovascular research (126).

Cardiovascular characteristics of murine and large animal models in comparison to humans are summarized in table (128-131).

Table 7. Cardiovascular characteristics of murine and large animal models and their comparison to humans

Table was adapted from reference (128) and amended by references (129-131). LAD: left anterior descending coronary artery; MHC: Myosin heavy chain; N2BA:N2B: titin element A and B; SERCA: sarco(endo)plasmic reticulum Ca2+-ATPase.

Parameter	Mouse	Rat	Pig/minipig	Sheep	Human
Body weight (kg)	0.02-0.05	0.2–0.5	80-100/25-50	50-80	50-86
Heart weight (g)	0.15-0.18	0.67 -0.99	148–435	188 ± 17	160-442
Heart rate (1/min)	310-840	250–493	50-116	60–120	72
Systolic Blood Pressure (mmHg)	113–160	84–184	135.8 ± 16.29	91–116	120
Diastolic Heart pressure (mmHg)	81-110	58-145	81.6 ± 14.10	102	80
Cardiac Output (mL/min)	13–15	16.11–61.4	3170 ± 450	1500 to 13200	3340–9790
Ejection Fraction (%)	59–94	87.15–95.1	52 ± 3	56.7 ± 8.9	>55

Parameter	Mouse	Rat	Pig/minipig	Sheep	Human
Coronary anatomy	Left coronary artery branches into a large septal artery and LAD	Single or double coronary arteries	Right-coronary dominancy (66%) or balanced dominancy (33.5%)	Left coronary dominancy	Right- coronary dominancy
Localization of infarction in reperfused hearts	mid- myocardial, and sub- epicardial	mid-myocardial, and sub- epicardial	sub- endocardial	mid- myocardial	sub- endocardial
Coronary size (mm)	0.16	-	3.89 ± 0.15/ 1.5- 2.0	3.8 ± 0. 2	3.70
MHC expression	Expression of α-MHC (>94– 100%)	Expression of α- MHC (>94– 100%)	Expression of β- MHC (~100%)	Expression of β-MHC (~100%)	Expression of β-MHC (>90–95%)
N2BA:N2B ratio	~0.05–0.25	~0.06–0.1	1–1.5	~0.35–0.4	~0.4–1.2
% of contribution of SERCA to calcium removal during relaxation	90–92%	90–92%	-	81.5%	76%
Multiple sampling of large volumes of tissues and biofluids	Not possible	Not possible	Possible	Possible	Possible

Based on the aforementioned data from the Table 7, we can conclude that large animals are better reflecting the human cardiovascular system. Among others, this indicates the need for use of large animals in cardiovascular research. According to the position paper of the ESC working group cellular biology of the heart the novel cardioprotective therapy should be investigated in all experimental I/R injury models including large animals (126).

Large animal studies that mimic the clinical reality in terms of observation time post MI, measurement of cardiovascular parameters by clinically relevant methods (with CMRI) are rare, partly due to ethical considerations but also due to high costs.

In cardiovascular research the use of pigs is more common than that of the sheep in Europe, this may be explained by that their breeding is more widespread. In addition, the scar formation after MI is very similar in humans and pigs. Collagen fibers are well organized in the core area of the infarction but have a random distribution in the outer areas in both humans and pigs (132).

1.3.5. Comparison of different pig breeds and their use as models of postmyocardial infarction

Pig breeds that are used in biomedical and cardiovascular research belong to species of domestic pigs (*Sus scrofa*). Pigs in this species vary in size, appearance and genetic background (133, 134). According to their size, they can be classified in minipigs and large pigs. Major characteristics of minipigs and large pigs are shown in Table 8 (135).

Attributes	Minipigs	Large pigs
Handling	Easy due to size	Difficult due to size
Behavior	Tractable	Less tractable
Space requirements	Smaller	Larger
Fertility	Good	Good
Mature body weight	35-45 kg	Up to 220 kg
Multiple blood sampling	Feasible	Feasible
Test of human therapeutic devices	Feasible	Feasible
Requirement for food, pharmacological therapies, anesthetics	Lower	Higher

 Table 8. Major characteristics of pigs classified according to their size

From the Table 8 we can conclude that minipigs and large swine differ first of all in physical attributes that makes minipigs easier to handle, perform interventions and keep in smaller stalls. In addition, smaller growth rate allows longer follow up periods with higher clinical relevance.

Although post-MI HF has been researched in pigs extensively, no study has been published with the aim of characterization and comparison the effect of MI on the outcome of post-MI HF in Landrace pigs and Göttingen minipigs.

In conclusion, clinically relevant pig models of post-MI HF are prerequisites for final proof-of-concept studies before entering clinical trials in most of the cardiovascular drug and medical device development projects. Therefore, a comprehensive characterization of the closed-chest post-MI HF models in Göttingen minipigs and Landrace pigs with the assessment of ventricular functions and anatomy using CMRI during long-term follow up may be useful for choosing the most fitting large animal models to study post-MI HF and to develop novel therapies.

2. Objectives

2.1. Establishing a preclinical model with I/R to detect hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib

Here we aimed to investigate that hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib could have been detected in early preclinical phases in pathological conditions using cellular- (*in vitro*), and small animal models (*ex vivo* and *in vivo*) of acute I/R injury and to test the effect of rofecoxib on intrinsic cardioprotection elicited by IPC.

2.2. Characterization of post-MI HF pig model that resembles human pathology

We also aimed to characterize post-MI HF in Göttingen minipigs in comparison to Landrace pigs to show whether any of these models reflect post-MI HF parameters comparable to humans.

3. Methods

Methods and other details are published in papers Brenner GB et al, Cells, 2020 (136) and Brenner GB, JoVe, 2021 (137).

4. Results

4.1. Chronic rofecoxib treatment increased acute mortality during cardiac ischemia/reperfusion

The rats were treated with rofecoxib for four weeks and then subjected to 30 min ischemia and 120 min reperfusion to investigate hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib. Rofecoxib treatment increased the mortality rate as compared to the pooled data of other groups (OR=7.73, CI 95%=1.70–34.97 vs. I/R+vehicle + IPC+vehicle + IPC+rofecoxib; p<0.008; Figure 6). In the I/R+rofecoxib group, seven animals died due to irreversible ventricular fibrillation (VF) during the ischemic period and one animal died due to a sudden drop in blood pressure during reperfusion. In the I/R+vehicle group, only one animal died due to irreversible VF during the ischemic period. Animals died during the short I/R stimuli of IPC (six/each IPC group) were excluded from further evaluations and are not shown in Figures 7, 8, and 9. In the IPC+rofecoxib group, one animal died due sudden drop in blood pressure in the reperfusion period.



Figure 6. Rofecoxib treatment increased the mortality rate in the ischemia/reperfusion (*I/R*) group in vivo when compared to the pooled data of other groups (OR = 7.73, CI 95% = 1.70-34.97, p < 0.008). *IPC: ischemic preconditioning.*

4.2. Chronic rofecoxib treatment increased arrhythmia score in cardiac ischemia/reperfusion

The severity and duration of arrhythmias were evaluated by scoring 5 min intervals according to the Lambeth conventions during cardiac ischemia and early reperfusion. The

results are represented as an arrhythmia map in Figure 7, showing the type of most severe arrhythmias occurring during a given 5-min interval by a color scale.



Figure 7. Arrhythmia maps showing the arrhythmias in the order of severity during 30 min ischemia and at the first 15 min of reperfusion. Each row represents arrhythmias of each animal. The different color boxes show 5-min periods. The animals died during the IPC (ischemic preconditioning) are not shown. In the I/R+rofecoxib group animals 1–7 died due to ventricular fibrillation (red and black box).

The peak arrhythmia scores were achieved in the I/R+vehicle groups after 10 min of ischemia (50th min of experiment) and, following that, they rapidly decreased (Figure 8). In contrast, in the I/R+rofecoxib group the initial increase runs parallel with the I/R+vehicle group, but, following that, the decline is much slower. We tested the statistical hypothesis that scores decrease in parallel by fitting the linear mixed regression model on the observations by excluding the data of the first period. The difference between slopes was highly significant ($p_{\text{Time x Group interaction}} = 0.00681$), thus suggesting a pronounced effect of rofecoxib on the recovery. Yet, such a difference does not exist between the estimated peak values at the end of 50th minute of experiment (p = 0.66367). The initial increase of arrhythmia scores was not observed in the IPC groups.



Figure 8. Arrhythmia scores in 5-min intervals declined gradually starting from the 50th min in the I/R+vehicle (ischemia/reperfusion) group but remained elevated in the I/R + rofecoxib group (*p < 0.05 I/R + vehicle vs. I/R + rofecoxib). IPC (ischemic preconditioning) prevented initial increase of arrhythmia score (#p < 0.05 IPC + rofecoxib vs. I/R + rofecoxib, $\Delta p < 0.05 IPC$ + vehicle vs. I/R + rofecoxib).

4.3. Rofecoxib decreased infarct size and did not interfere with cardioprotection by ischemic preconditioning

We measured IS to explore the effect of rofecoxib on I/R injury and cardioprotection by IPC. Rofecoxib reduced IS (I/R + rofecoxib) as compared to the vehicle-treated (I/R + vehicle) group (Figure 7). IS was significantly smaller in the IPC+vehicle group as compared to I/R+vehicle. Chronic rofecoxib treatment did not affect IS-limiting effect of IPC in IPC+rofecoxib when compared to the IPC+vehicle group.


Figure 9. Chronic rofecoxib treatment reduced infarct size in animals subjected to cardiac ischemia/reperfusion (I/R) and did not interfere with cardioprotection by ischemic preconditioning (IPC). (*p < 0.05 vs. I/R + vehicle, #p < 0.05 vs. I/R + rofecoxib). AAR: area at risk.

No significant difference was observed between groups for the AAR expressed as a percentage of the left ventricle (I/R + vehicle: $51.1 \pm 2.8\%$; IPC + vehicle: $41.6 \pm 2.3\%$; I/R + rofecoxib: $44.8 \pm 4.1\%$; IPC+rofecoxib $50.6 \pm 4.9\%$).

4.4. Rofecoxib increased the action potential duration in rat isolated papillary muscles at the end of simulated ischemia/reperfusion and this effect was not observed ischemic preconditioning group

In a collaboration with the Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy from University of Szeged, *ex vivo* simulated ischemia/reperfusion (sI/R) and simulated ischemic preconditioning (sIPC) experiments were performed on isolated rat left ventricular papillary muscles in order to analyze the effect of rofecoxib on cardiac action potential parameters. Rofecoxib treatment did not change action potential duration at 75% of repolarization (APD75) (Figure 10 A and B) in normoxic conditions. As expected, the 30 min simulated ischemia significantly shortened APD75 (Figure 10 A) in all groups that were subjected to ischemia when compared to the respective normoxic groups. However, importantly, in the presence of sI/R rofecoxib increased APD75 (Figure 10 B) upon reperfusion following the 30 min simulated ischemia. In the sIPC group, these effects of rofecoxib on APD were not seen during reperfusion (Figure 10 B).



Figure 10. (A) action potential duration at 75% of repolarization (APD75) decreased by the end of 30 min simulated ischemia in the simulated ischemia/reperfusion groups (sI/R) and simulated ischemic preconditioning groups (sIPC). (B) Rofecoxib increased the APD75 in adult rat isolated papillary muscles at the end of reperfusion and this effect was reversed by sIPC (*p<0.05 vs. corresponding normoxia group, #p<0.05 vs. sI/R +vehicle, Δp <0.05 vs. corresponding sI/R group).

4.5. Rofecoxib treatment increased viability of isolated adult rat cardiac myocytes in normoxia and in simulated ischemia/reperfusion injury

In vitro sI/R experiments were performed in order to analyze the effect of rofecoxib on viability of isolated cardiac myocytes. sI/R caused significant cell death (Figure 11) as compared to normoxic control, which was reversed by rofecoxib treatment at 0.1, 0.3, 1, and 3 μ M concentration, respectively, thereby supporting the *in vivo* data showing the IS reduction by rofecoxib (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Rofecoxib increased cell viability in isolated rat cardiac myocytes exposed to simulated ischemia/reperfusion (sI/R). Normoxia (N)+vehicle group was set to 1 relative fluorescence (RFU) arbitrary unit and all of the data were normalized to the averaged sI/R group (*p < 0.05 vs. Normoxia+vehicle, #p < 0.05 vs. sI/R+vehicle). RFU-arbitrary unit: Relative fluorescence unit.

4.6. Mortality rate did not change between the two pig breeds

Out of 13 Göttingen minipigs subjected to myocardial infarction 2 animals died (15.4% mortality), 1 during the ischemic period due to irreversible ventricular tachycardia (VT) and 1 owing to asystole in reperfusion. In Göttingen minipigs 1 animal was successfully resuscitated during the cardiac ischemia. Mortality rate was 0% in Landrace pigs, 10 out of 10 animals survived, 2 of them required resuscitation due to VF in ischemic period. Mortality did not differ significantly between the two breeds.

4.7. Myocardial scar sizes were comparable between the two pig breeds

To measure the extent of cardiac scar as a consequence of AMI, CMRI was performed. Scar sizes and BARI scores (Bypass Angioplasty Revascularization Investigation Myocardial Jeopardy Index) were comparable between the two breeds measured at the 2nd month of follow-up in Landrace pigs, and at the 3rd and 6th month in Göttingen minipigs (Figure 12 A and B). No differences were observed when scar sizes were related to the BARI scores in Landrace pigs at 2 months (0.55 ± 0.1) and in Göttingen minipigs at 3 months and 6 months respectively (0.75 ± 0.12) and 0.57 ± 0.08). The scars were

DOI:10.14753/SE.2022.2561

localized in the anterior, anteroseptal, septal, anteroapical and apical segments of the heart in both breeds. The lateral wall was affected only in Göttingen minipigs. Right ventricular infarction was negligible, affected only one animal out of eleven surviving Göttingen minipigs and one out of ten Landrace pigs $(2.11 \pm 2.11 \text{ vs. } 0.97 \pm 0.97)$.



Figure 12. (A) Left ventricular scar sizes in Göttingen minipigs and Landrace pigs measured by cardiac magnetic resonance imaging. Scar size is shown as a ratio of mass of infarction to the mass of left ventricle at end of diastole (LVED). (B) BARI (Bypass Angioplasty Revascularization Investigation Myocardial Jeopardy Index) scores in Göttingen minipigs and Landrace pigs measured before coronary occlusion.

4.8. Increase in left ventricular mass was more pronounced in Landrace pigs during follow-up

The cardiac growth rate was measured by CMRI. Left ventricular end-diastolic (LVED) mass in Göttingen minipigs increased only moderately (8%) at 6 months (Figure 13 A). In contrast, in Landrace pigs, LVED mass increased by almost 100% at 2 months (Figure 13 B).



Figure 13. (A) Left ventricular end diastolic (LVED) mass (g) of Göttingen minipigs and (B) Landrace pigs measured by cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (p<0.05 vs. corresponding baseline).

4.9. Left ventricular ejection fraction decreased only in Göttingen minipigs

LVEF, as the most widely used parameter of left ventricular systolic function, was measured by CMRI. MI resulted in a significant decrease in LVEF in minipigs at 3 months and 6 months (Figure 14 A). In Landrace pigs LVEF did not change after 2 months (Figure 14 B).



Figure 14. (A) Left ventricular (LV) ejection fraction (%) of Göttingen minipigs and (B) Landrace pigs measured by cardiac magnetic resonance imaging (p<0.05 vs. corresponding baseline).

Post-infarction LVESV and LVEDV increased significantly in both breeds (Table 9). Left ventricular end-systolic volume (LVESV) increased by 69% and 80% in Göttingen minipigs after 3 and 6 months, respectively, and by 80% in Landrace pigs after 2 months. Left ventricular end-diastolic volume (LVEDV) showed a 28% increase after 3 months and a 42% increase after 6 months in Göttingen minipigs and an 82% increase in Landrace pigs after 2 months.

Left ventricular stroke volume (LVSV) of Landrace pigs increased by 85% in 2 months and LVSV of Göttingen minipigs did not increase significantly even at 6 months.

Table 9. Left ventricular end-systolic volume (LVESV), left ventricular end-diastolic volume (LVEDV) and left ventricular stroke volume (LVSV) at the measured time points in Landrace pigs and Göttingen minipigs (*p<0.05 vs. corresponding baseline).

Measured parameter	G	öttingen minipig	Landrace pigs		
	Baseline	3 months	6 months	Baseline	2 months
LVESV [ml]	25.77±1.73	43.65±4.53*	46.28±4.35*	54.59 ± 2.00	98.26±8.60*
LVEDV [ml]	55.49±3.14	71.08±5.25*	78.81±5.46*	93.99±3.85	171.20±11.50*
LVSV [ml]	29.71±1.65	$27.44{\pm}1.97$	32.52±2.37	39.40±3.05	72.94±3.99*

4.10. Left atrial volume indexed to body surface area increased only in Göttingen minipigs, but both the breeds developed pulmonary edema following myocardial infarction

In order to further examine signs of HF, we performed measurement of the left atrial volume indexed to body surface area (LAVi). LAVi increased by 34% in Göttingen minipigs after 6 months (Figure 15 A) and did not change significantly in Landrace pigs after 2 months (Figure 15 B). Representative images show the tracing of the left atria (Figure 15 C-D). Moreover, the presence or absence of pulmonary edema was assessed by CMRI on the localizer images (Figure 15 E). Pulmonary edema was observed in both breeds as a result of cardiac decompensation. Ten out of eleven Göttingen minipigs and nine out of ten Landrace pigs showed signs of pulmonary edema.



Figure 15. (A) Left atrial volume indexed to body surface area (LAVi) in mL/m2 in Göttingen minipigs and (B) Landrace pigs measured by cardiac magnetic resonance imaging. Representative images of left atrial volumes, tracings were made on the two- (C) and four chamber (D) cine images. White arrows show the presence of pulmonary edema on the representative localizer image (E) (*p<0.05 vs. corresponding baseline).

4.11. Increase in body weight was more pronounced in Landrace pigs during follow-up

In Göttingen minipigs body weight gain was only 8% after 3 months and 30% after 6 months (Figure 16A), whereas increased heart weight was accompanied by a nearly 100% increase in body weight in Landrace pigs at 2 months (Figure 16B).



Figure 16. (A) Bodyweights (kg) of Göttingen minipigs and (B) Landrace pigs (p<0.05 vs. corresponding baseline).

4.12. Trends in cardiac functional parameters differ between Göttingen minipigs and Landrace pigs

Coronary artery occlusion led to an almost significant decrease in mean arterial pressure (MAP) in Göttingen minipigs ($57.9 \pm 3.98 \text{ mmHg vs. } 49.89 \pm 1.24 \text{ mmHg}$) and decreased significantly in Landrace pigs ($65.4 \pm 5.97 \text{ mmHg vs. } 45.47 \pm 4.79^* \text{ mmHg}$) in the early reperfusion phase as compared to the baseline (pre-infarction) values.

Cardiac index (CI) is a reliable indicator of cardiac performance which relates left ventricular cardiac output (CO) to body surface area (BSA). In Göttingen minipigs CI didn't change at the measured timepoints (Figure 17 A), whereas in Landrace pigs a tendency to increase was detected in CI (Figure 17 B).



Figure 17. (A) Left ventricular (LV) cardiac indices $(L/min/m^2)$ of Göttingen minipigs and (B) Landrace pigs.

Heart rate (HR) of Göttingen minipigs increased significantly at 3 (20%) and 6 months (22%) after MI compared to baseline values (Table 10). In contrast, the HR of Landrace pigs didn't change significantly during the follow-up period.

Table 10. Heart rate (HR), cardiac output (CO) and body surface area (BSA) of Göttingen minipigs and Landrace pigs. *p<0.05 vs. corresponding baseline (repeated measures one-way ANOVA followed by Fisher's LSD test in Göttingen minipigs; paired t-test in Landrace pigs).

Measured	Göttingen minipigs			Landrace pigs	
parameter	Baseline	3 months	6 months	Baseline	2 months
HR [L/min]	79.64±4.03	95.55±5.34*	$97.00 \pm 4.46*$	93.44±2.73	88.00 ± 2.52
CO [L/min]	2.37±0.16	2.58 ± 0.20	3.12±0.24*	3.65 ± 0.25	6.41±0.39*
BSA [m ²]	0.70 ± 0.01	0.73±0.01*	0.83±0.03*	0.70 ± 0.01	$1.08 \pm 0.03*$

In Göttingen minipigs CO showed a significant, 32% increase only at 6 months of followup, whereas CO was increased by 76% in Landrace pigs after 2 months due to a significant increase in LVSV (Table 2). BSA increased significantly in both breeds at the measured time points (Table 2). BSA increased by 4% and 19% in Göttingen minipigs after 3 and 6 months, respectively, and by 54% in Landrace pigs after 2 months.

4.13. Increase in right ventricular morphofunctional parameters were observed in both Göttingen minipigs and Landrace pigs

MI affected not only left ventricular function but it also resulted in a significant increase of right ventricular ejection fraction (RVEF) in both breeds (Figure 18) measured by CMRI, despite the negligible right ventricular scar size.



Figure 18. Right ventricular (RV) ejection fractions (%) of Göttingen minipigs (A) and Landrace pigs (B) (*p<0.05 vs. corresponding baseline).

RVED mass increased in Landrace pigs only (Table 11).

Table 11. Right ventricular end-diastolic (RVED) mass, right ventricular end-systolic volume(RVESV), right ventricular end-diastolic volume (RVEDV) and right ventricular stroke volume(RVSV) in Göttingen minipigs and Landrace pigs (*p<0.05 vs. corresponding baseline).</td>

Measured	Göttingen minipigs			Landrace pigs	
parameter	Baseline	3 months	6 months	Baseline	2 months
RVED mass [g]	8.64 ± 0.68	8.98 ± 0.76	7.94 ± 0.77	16.49±0.90	23.61±1.40*
RVESV [ml]	18.27 ± 1.47	16.91±1.80	14.57 ± 1.02	43.59±3.68	42.65±2.37
RVEDV [ml]	44.16±2.61	42.14±2.83	46.27±3.45	83.03±3.42	113.72±5.12*
RVSV [ml]	25.82±1.72	25.25±1.67	31.71±2.99*	39.44±3.52	71.06±3.38*

Right ventricular end-systolic volume (RVESV) did not change during follow up in any of the breeds. Right ventricular end-systolic volume (RVEDV) increased significantly by 37% only in Landrace pigs (Table 11). While right ventricular stroke volume (RVSV) in Göttingen minipigs increased significantly by 23% only after 6 months, in Landrace pigs a significant 80% increase in RVSV was observed at 2 months.

5. Discussion

In summary, as the leading causes of attrition in drug development programs are related to unexpected cardiotoxicity and failure of translation of preclinical efficacy (1, 9-11). this thesis focused on these two relevant aspects of failure of drug development in preclinical phase. The first aspect was the need of new reliable screening methods for prediction of drug-induced cardiotoxicity, highlighting hidden cardiotoxicities. Here, we demonstrated for the first time in the literature that rofecoxib increased acute mortality due to its proarrhythmic effect as indicated by increased APD75 during I/R. We also showed that rofecoxib did not interfere with the cardioprotective effect of IPC and that IPC was able to protect against rofecoxib-induced hidden cardiotoxicity. The second aspect was related to the need to characterize a clinically relevant translational pig model of post-MI HF, which is a prerequisite for final proof-of-concept studies before entering into clinical trials in drug and medical device development. We described a detailed protocol of acute MI and the evaluation of post-MI HF in a closed-chest model of adult Göttingen minipigs. In addition, this was the first characterization of post-MI HF in Göttingen minipigs in comparison to commonly used Landrace pigs, showing that the Göttingen minipig model reflects post-MI HF parameters comparable to humans.

We have shown that chronic rofecoxib treatment increased mortality following acute cardiac I/R in rats. This finding also is in line with the clinical data. Selective COX-2 inhibition with rofecoxib and celecoxib increased mortality at all doses in patients with prior myocardial infarction, however, the underlying mechanisms were not explained (138). Our findings suggest that the increased mortality due to rofecoxib treatment can be attributed to its proarrhythmic property that is masked in normoxic conditions, but can manifest during I/R. With the aim of further analyzing the hidden proarrhythmic effects of rofecoxib, we subjected left ventricular papillary muscles to sI/R conditions. APD was significantly prolonged by rofecoxib only in cardiac tissues subjected to sI/R. This finding broadly supports our in vivo data and highlights that myocardial ischemia is critical in induction of arrhythmias on top of treatment with drugs with hidden cardiotoxic properties (12). Mechanistically, increased spatial dispersion of repolarization between normoxic and ischemic myocardium promotes the development of ischemia-induced arrhythmias (139, 140) and rofecoxib may further exacerbate differences in APD

between normoxic and ischemic myocardium, further increasing the arrhythmia substrate in I/R (141).

Although here we did not assess the mechanism of rofecoxib-induced arrhythmias, suppression of COX-2-derived PGI2 and PGE2 synthesis and other "off target" effects of COX-2 inhibitors can be assumed (142). Supporting the theory of potential "off target" effects of rofecoxib, the risk for arrhythmia events was not increased with COX-2 inhibitors other than rofecoxib in a comprehensive meta-analysis of 114 randomized trials (55). However, subgroup analysis of patients with ischemic heart diseases was not performed in this meta-analysis, which may have revealed its cardiotoxicity even earlier. These results clearly show that the exclusion of patients with preexisting cardiovascular diseases from clinical trials and the lack of subgroup analyses on patients with underlying co-morbidities in clinical settings may lead to the loss of valuable safety information on drugs with potential hidden cardiotoxic effects (12, 143). In accordance with our preclinical data, previous clinical studies have demonstrated that myocardial ischemia is crucial in unmasking cardiotoxic effects of COX-2 inhibitors. Repeated administration of valdecoxib had no effect on QTc interval duration in healthy volunteers (144), and valdecoxib and parecoxib did not increase the risk for cardiac adverse events in patients recovering from major noncardiac surgical procedures (145). However, the use of valdecoxib and parecoxib in patients subjected to coronary-artery bypass grafting (CABG) was associated with an increased incidence of cardiovascular events (146). In the latter studies incidence of arrhythmias was not evaluated, however increased incidence of cardiovascular events further highlights the critical role of I/R as a provocative factor to exacerbate cardiotoxic effects of certain drugs. In addition, mortality was increased by celecoxib in a chronic post-MI HF in pigs due to left ventricular rupture and cardiac decompensation (147). In clinical settings, celecoxib use was associated with a dose-related increase in death from cardiovascular causes, myocardial infarction, stroke or HF (148). In contrast to this finding, low dose celecoxib treatment was noninferior in terms of cardiovascular safety as compared to naproxen and ibuprofen in patients at increased cardiovascular risk and osteoarthritis or rheumatoid arthritis (149). Based on these findings, it is plausible that hidden cardiotoxic effects may occur dose dependently. Since the hidden cardiotoxic effect of drugs may manifest not only as aggravation of I/R injury but also as attenuation of ischemic adaptation of the myocardium by ischemic

conditioning (12), here we also investigated the interaction of rofecoxib with IPC. We found that rofecoxib alone decreased IS and did not interfere with the protective effect of IPC. To further test if the IS limiting effect was due to direct cardio-cytoprotective effect or was an artefact due to the significantly less survival of animals with larger IS, we tested the cytoprotective effect of rofecoxib in cardiac myocytes subjected to sI/R and found an increased cell survival due to rofecoxib treatment. These results show that rofecoxib has a direct cardio-cytoprotective effect. IS-limiting effect was also shown in rats using another COX-2 inhibitor celecoxib. Furthermore, in this study mortality rate of celecoxib treatment was not reported, which can also alter outcomes of cardioprotection significantly (150). DFU, a compound structurally related to rofecoxib, led to a significant improvement in left ventricular end-diastolic pressure and LV systolic pressure and a reduction in IS after myocardial infarction in Lewis male rats (151). A neutral effect on IS was shown in different animal models of myocardial infarction with the use of various COX-2 inhibitors (152-155). In contrast, Inserte et al. showed that in transgenic mice constitutively expressing human COX-2 in cardiomyocytes functional recovery was improved, cell death was reduced after 40 min of ex vivo ischemia, and that pretreatment of mice with the COX-2 inhibitor DFU attenuated cardioprotection (156). In a recent publication inducible cardiac-specific COX-2 overexpression showed infarct-limiting effect in mice (157). Confirming our finding on direct cardioprotection by rofecoxib in vivo, here we also showed that rofecoxib increased cell survival in sI/R on isolated cardiomyocytes. These findings are in line with a previous report where cytoprotective effects of COX-2 inhibition was demonstrated in H9c2 cells and primary rat cardiomyocytes in a simulated hypoxia/reoxygenation (H/R) model, showing that a pretreatment with a COX-2 inhibitor NS-398 significantly attenuated H/R-induced cellular injury. The activation of RISK cardiomyocyte survival cascade following COX-2 inhibition was proposed (158).

Our results and other previous observations suggest that the presence and/or extent of cardioprotection by COX-2 inhibitors may vary due to both the nature of the applied inhibitor and the model species according to different anatomy, physiology, and pharmacokinetics, dosing, etc., and due to differences in surgery protocols (anesthetics, co-medications, chronic or acute cardiac ischemia etc.). Janus-like nature and central role of COX-2 inhibition on cardioprotection seems plausible. Here we found that rofecoxib

pretreatment did not affect the IS limiting effect of IPC. Confirming our results, parecoxib administered intravenously 15 min prior to IPC did not affect the IS limiting effect of IPC in male Wistar rats (159). Somewhat in contrast, the protective effect of late phase of ischemic conditioning was attributed to the increased expression and activity of COX-2 (160, 161). Similarly, Sato et al. showed upregulation of COX-2 expression in Harlan Sprague Dawley rats in the ischemic-reperfused cardiac region by late preconditioning but not by postconditioning and the use of celecoxib completely abrogated the infarctsparing effect of the combination of the two interventions (162). In summary, it is unlikely that a class effect of COX-2 inhibitors regarding their influence on cardioprotection by ischemic conditioning exist. Moreover, it should be emphasized that in our present study the action potential-prolonging effect of rofecoxib in papillary muscle preparations subjected to sI/R was not observed when sIPC was applied. These results show that the hidden cardiotoxic effects of rofecoxib can be prevented by ischemic conditioning. Similarly, Maulik et al. showed that sIPC protected primary adult rat cardiomyocytes against the direct cardiotoxic effect of doxorubicin (163). However, there are no clinical data so far on the potential protective effect of IPC on drug-induced cardiotoxicity. The currently ongoing (or still unpublished) ERIC-ONC trial aimed to demonstrate whether remote ischemic preconditioning (RIPC) reduces subclinical myocardial injury due to anthracycline chemotherapy (164).

The most important clinically relevant finding of our work was that hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib can be revealed by preclinical cardiotoxicity testing by using experimental I/R models. These results suggest that cardiac safety testing with simple preclinical models of I/R injury might reveal hidden cardiotoxicity of drugs under early stages of development.

As another leading cause of attrition in drug development programs beside unexpected cardiotoxicity is the failure of translation of preclinical efficacy [1, 9-11], here we aimed to characterize a clinically relevant translational pig model of post-MI HF, which is a prerequisite for final proof-of-concept studies before entering into clinical trials in drug and medical device development (126, 127, 165). In addition, this was the first characterization of post-MI HF in Göttingen minipigs in comparison to commonly used Landrace pigs, showing that the Göttingen minipig model reflects post-MI HF parameters comparable to humans.

Pig models resemble humans in anatomy, physiology and biochemical properties in particular in the field of myocardial infarction research as they develop trans-mural infarctions due to the lack of collateral perfusion (128). Therefore, pig models can serve as models for the analysis of cardioprotective therapies and their mechanisms (166-171). In order to analyze the scientific interest on post-MI HF in pigs we performed literature search on PubMed using the following search string: (pig OR swine OR porcine OR susscrofa OR minipig OR mini-pig OR miniature-pig OR miniature-swine) AND (infarct* OR ischem* OR ischaem* OR reperfus*) AND (heart OR cardi* OR myocard*) AND (LAD OR left-anterior* OR LCX OR left-circumflex OR RCA) AND (heart-failure OR lvef OR ejection-fraction OR infarct-size OR infarction-size). We found that pig models of cardiac ischemia/reperfusion are frequently used to study MI and post-MI HF, but only 17% (71 out of 425 articles) of studies involved minipigs and 7% (30 out of 425 articles) used Göttingen minipigs. Only about 1% (5 out of 425) of studies used Göttingen minipigs and clinically relevant protocols with long-term follow-up (1-9 months of reperfusion) and CMRI to analyze cardiac function. The small number of clinically relevant studies highlights the translational gap between basic research and clinical trials. Here we have found that despite the equal scar sizes, mortality rates and BARI scores in the two breeds, left ventricular dysfunction characterized by decreased LVEF was observed only in Göttingen minipigs. Here we observed a 15.4% acute mortality in Göttingen minipigs and no mortality in the follow-up period, the letter is comparable to that in clinical studies. Indeed, a patient-level meta-analysis of 10 randomized clinical trials found that the Kaplan-Meier estimated 1-year rate of all-cause mortality was as low as 2.2% following myocardial infarction (74). Scar sizes reported here are comparable to those in clinical trials. In clinical trials performed by Lonborg et al and Stone et al in patients surviving ST-elevation myocardial infarction the median scar sizes, measured as % of left ventricular myocardial mass were 9.5% and 17.9 % respectively (74, 172). Moreover, scar sizes in our present study are similar to those reported in previous publications in Göttingen minipigs (12-25%) (173-178) and in Landrace pigs (14-18%) (179-181). Our present finding on baseline LVEF in Landrace swine is in the range of data reported by others in large swine (182-184). These values in large swine are smaller as compared to healthy human LVEF reference ranges (58-61%) (185) and baseline (preinfarction) values in Göttingen minipigs (55-73%) (174, 186, 187). Nevertheless, it is

worth noting that only the post-infarction data or delta changes of LVEF are reported in most publications (188-192). In accordance with the present results, previous studies of either post-MI HF induced by 45 to 90 min LAD occlusion followed by reperfusion or by permanent LAD occlusion have demonstrated either no reduction or modest reduction of LVEF in Landrace or Yorkshire swine after 4-6 weeks follow up as compared to baseline (pre-infarction) LVEF (193-195). However, Schuleri et al. compared morphofunctional parameters between Göttingen minipigs and Yorkshire swine and found that both breeds showed a decrease of LVEF 8 weeks after induction of MI by 120 to 150 min LAD occlusion-reperfusion; however, baseline LVEF values in Yorkshire swine were not reported (196). In other experiments in female Dalland Landrace pigs post-MI adverse remodeling was induced by 90 min LAD occlusion, however, LVEF was not reported after 4 weeks of follow-up (197). In contrast to our findings, in a study by de Jong et al., LVEF markedly decreased in Landrace pigs subjected to open chest occlusion of the LAD and by a 12 week follow up (198). This difference can be attributed to substantially longer cardiac ischemic period (150 min), which resulted in larger infarction size ($23.4 \pm 2.1\%$ of LV), therefore, representing patients with severe myocardial infarction and long ischemic time. Elsewhere, 120-min closed-chest occlusion of left circumflex (LCX) coronary artery in German Landrace pigs led to a significant reduction in LVEF after eight weeks of reperfusion, suggesting that the different location of MI may also affect global left ventricular function (199). Although the LCX occlusion results in lower procedural mortality and thus is widely used in cardiovascular research as I/R model, in humans the culprit lesion is most frequently located in the LAD. Occlusion of the LAD in swine results in myocardial infarctions located in anteroapical, lateral and septal LV walls. The same localization and distribution is observed in humans when LAD is occluded which leads to more pronounced dysfunction and different compensatory changes as compared to when LCX is occluded (182). Thus, occlusion of LAD may be the best approach to mimic the clinical scenario which represents the largest patient population surviving AMI. Our present findings are consistent with others showing significant reduction in LVEF in post-MI HF in Göttingen minipigs after long-term follow up (174, 186, 187).

The reduction of LVEF in Göttingen minipigs following MI is consistent with clinical data showing cardiac dysfunction as a consequence of ventricular remodeling in patients

after AMI (200). In conclusion, Göttingen minipigs mimic the human conditions better, than the Landrace pigs, since pre-infarction LVEF, scar size, post-infarction LVEF, and mortality all are comparable to these parameters found in humans.

Here we observed only a slight increase in LVED mass after six months in Göttingen minipigs and an almost 100% increase in LVED masses in Landrace pigs after two months. Similar data were reported by Schuleri et al. in Yorkshire pigs, where a 40% increase in heart weight was observed after two months. In contrast, in other experiments of closed-chest post-MI HF in Göttingen minipigs no significant changes in left ventricular masses were observed (174, 186). Therefore, differences between the two breeds regarding LVEF can be attributed to an intensive cardiac growth rate in Landrace pigs and thus altered cardiac remodeling.

In clinical settings, beside LVEF, left ventricular volume provides valuable insight into long-term prognosis and mortality rate in post-MI patients (201). LVESV is the primary determinant of both early and late mortality in patients after AMI (202, 203). Here we have shown that ventricular volume assessed by CMRI increased significantly in both breeds. Post-MI remodeling induced a more pronounced increase in LVESV than in LVEDV in Göttingen minipigs, while both LVESV and LVEDV were increased by a similar rate in Landrace pigs. Consequently, left ventricular ejection fraction (LVEF) was significantly decreased at 3 and 6 months only in Göttingen minipigs but not in Landrace pigs after 2 months. These results must be interpreted with caution in Landrace pigs, where increased LVESV, LVEDV, and LVSV (calculated as the difference between the LVESV and LVEDV) are more likely related to an intensive increase in cardiac mass. Increased LVESV and LVEDV are consistent with clinical data of patients with post-MI HF (204-206). Moreover, adverse left ventricular remodeling was defined as an increase of 15% or more in the LVEDV in clinical studies (98, 207) and we found here a 28% increase after 3 months and a 42% increase after 6 months in LVEDV in Göttingen minipigs showing a clinically relevant adverse remodeling. In addition, here we have shown that LAVi increased only in Göttingen minipigs, but not in Landrace pigs. Increase of left atrial volume is an additional key structural alteration in the context of HF and is an independent predictor of death and HF hospitalization in patients surviving MI (208). Although the LAVi is not reported in the pig post-MI HF studies routinely, it may serve as a reliable parameter to further characterize the post-MI HF models.

Right ventricular function is rarely studied in post-MI HF models. Here we have found that right ventricular ejection fraction increased in both breeds. Although RV was practically not involved in myocardial necrosis, RVEF increased significantly in both breeds indicating RV volume overload and hence left ventricular dysfunction. Similarly, a clinical study enrolling 2008 patients with chronic systolic HF showed that 733 patients (37%) belonged to normal right ventricular function category with RVEF≥40% (209). The most important finding of our work from the aspect of drug development is that the adult Göttingen minipig model with long-term follow-up mimics functional and morphological parameters of post-MI HF comparable to humans. Our present data also show that Landrace pigs are not suitable for the evaluation of post-MI HF mainly due to consequences of the rapid increase in body- and heart weight that does not allow longterm follow-up and interferes with post-MI HF pathology. In contrast, Landrace pigs might be suitable to assess the consequences of acute myocardial infarction. In addition, by choosing the proper endpoints and follow-up times, Landrace pigs may serve as models of cardiac diseases due to their lower price and easier accessibility. This present comprehensive characterization of the closed-chest infarction models in Landrace pigs and Göttingen minipigs will be useful for choosing the optimal large animal models to study post-MI HF and developing novel therapies against this pathology.

Despite our promising results, questions remain and further work is required to establish new methods to prevent high attrition rates in drug development.

In our study to predict hidden cardiotoxicity results strongly suggest that by supplementing current toxicity screening methodologies with a pathological condition, in this case I/R, useful information can be easily obtained about the behavior of a drug in diseased state. To mimic the "real world" patient population, further factors can be added to the test system, such as other diseases and medications. Differences of drug response and effect on action potentials across species have been also reported. Rats possesses minimal I_{Kr} as compared to humans. Thus, further research might be necessary to investigate the effect of I/R in clinically relevant hiPSC-CMs. However, at an organ level, differences in current densities within the ventricles may occur, suggesting that measurement of a single current may lead to misleading conclusions and further development may be required to better model the complexity of in vivo physiology (4). In recent years, increasing interest was focused on miRNAs that may serve as reliable

biomarkers of diseases (210). A number of studies suggest that early changes in microRNA expression profiles might also predict cardiotoxicity (50, 211, 212). Thus, unbiased analysis of the raw small RNA sequencing data from samples gathered from subjects treated with hidden cardiotoxic drug and its bioinformatics evaluation may also give valuable information on effect of treatment on miRNA fingerprints. These investigations may also lead to finding of new toxicity biomarkers. According to Zhang et al, time-cumulative meta-analytic approach would have revealed cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib earlier (55), suggesting that quicker detection of adverse drug reactions and improved early warning systems are needed in the field of pharmacovigilance.

Regarding the need to characterize a more robust clinically relevant translational pig model of post-MI HF we can conclude that our approach and model answers a number of issues: relevance of long-term follow up and the use of clinically relevant endpoints. Therefore, we took a step toward bridging the translational gap between basic science and clinical efficacy. However, in the future investigations it might be mandatory to validate cardioprotective and symptomatic/causative therapies of post-MI HF in aged swine with comorbidities and comedications using clinically relevant endpoints, protocols and multicenter preclinical approach (19, 143).

6. Conclusions

6.1. Hidden cardiotoxicity of rofecoxib can be revealed by experimental I/R models

Here we demonstrated for the first time in the literature that rofecoxib increased acute mortality due to its proarrhythmic effect as indicated by increased APD75 during I/R. We also showed that rofecoxib did not interfere with the cardioprotective effect of IPC and that IPC was able to protect against rofecoxib-induced hidden cardiotoxicity. Therefore, our data highlights the value of testing drug candidates for hidden cardiotoxicity in disease models such as I/R injury.

6.2. Göttingen minipig model is superior to the Landrace pig in long-term followup post-MI HF studies

We have shown here that the adult Göttingen minipig model with long-term follow-up mimics functional and morphological parameters of post-MI HF comparable to humans. Our data also show that Landrace pigs are not suitable for the evaluation of post-MI HF mainly due to consequences of the rapid increase in body and heart weight that does not allow long-term follow-up and interferes with post-MI HF pathology. Landrace pigs might be suitable to assess the consequences of acute myocardial infarction. Our comprehensive characterization of the closed-chest infarction models in Landrace and Göttingen minipigs will be useful for choosing the optimal large animal models to study post-MI HF and developing novel therapies against this pathology.

7. Summary

Drug development is a time-consuming, complex and expensive process that consists of preclinical and clinical phases (1-3). Attrition in drug development in later phases, such as phase 3 and phase 4, may lead to high sunk costs, increased patient risks and waste of time of scientists (4). As the leading causes of attrition in drug development programs are related to unexpected cardiotoxicity and failure of translation of preclinical efficacy, this thesis focused on these two relevant aspects of failure of drug development in preclinical phase. The first aspect was the need of new reliable screening methods for prediction of drug-induced cardiotoxicitiy, highlighting hidden cardiotoxicities. Here, we demonstrated for the first time in the literature that rofecoxib increased acute mortality due to its proarrhythmic effect as indicated by increased APD75 during I/R. We also showed that rofecoxib did not interfere with the cardioprotective effect of IPC and that IPC was able to protect against rofecoxib-induced hidden cardiotoxicity. The second investigated aspect was related to the need to characterize a clinically relevant translational pig model of post-MI HF, which is a prerequisite for final proof-of-concept studies before entering clinical trials in drug and medical device development. Here we described a detailed protocol of acute MI and the evaluation of post-MI HF in a closedchest model of adult Göttingen minipigs. In addition, this was the first characterization of post-MI HF in Göttingen minipigs in comparison to commonly used Landrace pigs, showing that the Göttingen minipig model reflects post-MI HF parameters comparable to humans.

In summary, this thesis highlighted the value of testing drug candidates for hidden cardiotoxicity in disease models such as I/R injury. In addition, we have shown that Göttingen minipig model is superior to the Landrace pig for following up the development of post-MI HF.

8. References

1. Forum on N, Nervous System D, Board on Health Sciences P, Institute of M. The National Academies Collection: Reports funded by National Institutes of Health. In: Improving and Accelerating Therapeutic Development for Nervous System Disorders: Workshop Summary, doi:10.17226/18494. National Academies Press (US)

Copyright 2014 by the National Academy of Sciences. All rights reserved., Washington (DC), 2014.

 Pritchard JF, Jurima-Romet M, Reimer ML, Mortimer E, Rolfe B, Cayen MN.
(2003) Making better drugs: Decision gates in non-clinical drug development. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 2: 542-553.

3. Ruiz-Garcia J, Alegria-Barrero E. (2016) Cardiovascular Safety in Drug Development: A Role for Endothelial Function Tests. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther, 21: 507-515.

4. Gintant G, Sager PT, Stockbridge N. (2016) Evolution of strategies to improve preclinical cardiac safety testing. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 15: 457-471.

5. Pontes H, Clement M, Rollason V. (2014) Safety signal detection: the relevance of literature review. Drug Saf, 37: 471-479.

6. Onakpoya IJ, Heneghan CJ, Aronson JK. (2016) Post-marketing withdrawal of 462 medicinal products because of adverse drug reactions: a systematic review of the world literature. BMC Med, 14: 10.

7. Fogel DB. (2018) Factors associated with clinical trials that fail and opportunities for improving the likelihood of success: A review. Contemp Clin Trials Commun, 11: 156-164.

 Heusch G. (2017) Critical Issues for the Translation of Cardioprotection. Circ Res, 120: 1477-1486.

9. Kola I, Landis J. (2004) Can the pharmaceutical industry reduce attrition rates? Nat Rev Drug Discov, 3: 711-715.

10. Laverty H, Benson C, Cartwright E, Cross M, Garland C, Hammond T, Holloway C, McMahon N, Milligan J, Park B, Pirmohamed M, Pollard C, Radford J, Roome N, Sager P, Singh S, Suter T, Suter W, Trafford A, Volders P, Wallis R, Weaver R, York M,

Valentin J. (2011) How can we improve our understanding of cardiovascular safety liabilities to develop safer medicines? Br J Pharmacol, 163: 675-693.

11. Madonna R, Cadeddu C, Deidda M, Mele D, Monte I, Novo G, Pagliaro P, Pepe A, Spallarossa P, Tocchetti CG, Zito C, Mercuro G. (2015) Improving the preclinical models for the study of chemotherapy-induced cardiotoxicity: a Position Paper of the Italian Working Group on Drug Cardiotoxicity and Cardioprotection. Heart Fail Rev, 20: 621-631.

12. Ferdinandy P, Baczkó I, Bencsik P, Giricz Z, Görbe A, Pacher P, Varga ZV, Varró A, Schulz R. (2019) Definition of hidden drug cardiotoxicity: paradigm change in cardiac safety testing and its clinical implications. Eur Heart J, 40: 1771-1777.

13. (2005) International Conference on Harmonisation; guidance on S7B Nonclinical Evaluation of the Potential for Delayed Ventricular Repolarization (QT Interval Prolongation) by Human Pharmaceuticals; availability. Notice. Fed Regist, 70: 61133-61134.

14. (2005) International Conference on Harmonisation; guidance on E14 Clinical Evaluation of QT/QTc Interval Prolongation and Proarrhythmic Potential for Non-Antiarrhythmic Drugs; availability. Notice. Fed Regist, 70: 61134-61135.

15. (2010) International Conference on Harmonisation; Guidance on M3(R2) Nonclinical Safety Studies for the Conduct of Human Clinical Trials and Marketing Authorization for Pharmaceuticals; availability. Notice. Fed Regist, 75: 3471-3472.

16. Page RL, 2nd, O'Bryant CL, Cheng D, Dow TJ, Ky B, Stein CM, Spencer AP, Trupp RJ, Lindenfeld J. (2016) Drugs That May Cause or Exacerbate Heart Failure: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circulation, 134: e32-69.

17. Chao TF, Liu CJ, Chen SJ, Wang KL, Lin YJ, Chang SL, Lo LW, Hu YF, Tuan TC, Wu TJ, Chen TJ, Tsao HM, Chen SA. (2013) The association between the use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and atrial fibrillation: a nationwide case-control study. Int J Cardiol, 168: 312-316.

18. Paradies V, Chan MHH, Hausenloy DJ. Strategies for Reducing Myocardial Infarct Size Following STEMI. In: Watson TJ, Ong PJL, Tcheng JE (szerk.), Primary Angioplasty: A Practical Guide, doi:10.1007/978-981-13-1114-7_22. Springer

Copyright 2018, The Author(s). Singapore, 2018: 307-322.

19. Heusch G. (2018) Cardioprotection research must leave its comfort zone. Eur Heart J, 39: 3393-3395.

20. DiMasi JA, Grabowski HG, Hansen RW. (2016) Innovation in the pharmaceutical industry: New estimates of R&D costs. J Health Econ, 47: 20-33.

21. Lipsky MS, Sharp LK. (2001) From idea to market: the drug approval process. J Am Board Fam Pract, 14: 362-367.

22. Mullard A. (2020) \$1.3 billion per drug? Nat Rev Drug Discov, 19: 226.

23. GAO. INVESTIGATIONAL NEW DRUGS FDA Has Taken Steps to Improve the Expanded Access Program but Should Further Clarify How Adverse Events Data Are Used. Vol. 2021, 2017.

24. Roberts RA, Kavanagh SL, Mellor HR, Pollard CE, Robinson S, Platz SJ. (2014) Reducing attrition in drug development: smart loading preclinical safety assessment. Drug Discov Today, 19: 341-347.

25. Takebe T, Imai R, Ono S. (2018) The Current Status of Drug Discovery and Development as Originated in United States Academia: The Influence of Industrial and Academic Collaboration on Drug Discovery and Development. Clin Transl Sci, 11: 597-606.

26. US_FDA. (2020) New Drug Development and Review Process | FDA.

27. Waring MJ, Arrowsmith J, Leach AR, Leeson PD, Mandrell S, Owen RM, Pairaudeau G, Pennie WD, Pickett SD, Wang J, Wallace O, Weir A. (2015) An analysis of the attrition of drug candidates from four major pharmaceutical companies. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 14: 475-486.

28. Schuster D, Laggner C, Langer T. (2005) Why drugs fail--a study on side effects in new chemical entities. Curr Pharm Des, 11: 3545-3559.

29. McNaughton R, Huet G, Shakir S. (2014) An investigation into drug products withdrawn from the EU market between 2002 and 2011 for safety reasons and the evidence used to support the decision-making. BMJ Open, 4: e004221.

 La Rochelle P, Lexchin J, Simonyan D. (2016) Analysis of the Drugs Withdrawn from the US Market from 1976 to 2010 for Safety Reasons. Pharmaceutical Medicine, 30: 277-289. 31. Wilke RA, Lin DW, Roden DM, Watkins PB, Flockhart D, Zineh I, Giacomini KM, Krauss RM. (2007) Identifying genetic risk factors for serious adverse drug reactions: current progress and challenges. Nat Rev Drug Discov, 6: 904-916.

32. Lexchin J. (2014) How safe are new drugs? Market withdrawal of drugs approved in Canada between 1990 and 2009. Open Med, 8: e14-19.

33. Lexchin J. (2005) Drug withdrawals from the Canadian market for safety reasons,1963-2004. Cmaj, 172: 765-767.

34. Shah RR. (2006) Can pharmacogenetics help rescue drugs withdrawn from the market? Pharmacogenomics, 7: 889-908.

35. Stevens JL, Baker TK. (2009) The future of drug safety testing: expanding the view and narrowing the focus. Drug Discov Today, 14: 162-167.

 Siramshetty VB, Nickel J, Omieczynski C, Gohlke BO, Drwal MN, Preissner R.
(2016) WITHDRAWN--a resource for withdrawn and discontinued drugs. Nucleic Acids Res, 44: D1080-1086.

37. ICH Official web site : ICH. Vol. 2021, 1995.

38. Bernstein D. (2017) Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cardiomyocytes: A Platform for Testing For Drug Cardiotoxicity. Prog Pediatr Cardiol, 46: 2-6.

39. Gintant G, Burridge P, Gepstein L, Harding S, Herron T, Hong C, Jalife J, Wu JC. (2019) Use of Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cell-Derived Cardiomyocytes in Preclinical Cancer Drug Cardiotoxicity Testing: A Scientific Statement From the American Heart Association. Circ Res, 125: e75-e92.

40. Hajjar J, Michael PS, Ricardo ED, Manish JB, Euan AA, Michael TL, Robert CR, Joseph C. Wu NS, Masayuki Y, Jianwei L, Leng H, Veronica S-F, Oscar JA, Enrique GN, Shijun H, Li W, Andrew L, Aleksandra P, Shin L, Rui C, Roger. (2012) Patient-Specific Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells as a Model for Familial Dilated Cardiomyopathy. doi:10.1126/scitranslmed.3003552.

41. Lan F, Lee AS, Liang P, Sanchez-Freire V, Nguyen PK, Wang L, Han L, Yen M, Wang Y, Sun N, Abilez OJ, Hu S, Ebert AD, Navarrete EG, Simmons CS, Wheeler M, Pruitt B, Lewis R, Yamaguchi Y, Ashley EA, Bers DM, Robbins RC, Longaker MT, Wu JC. (2013) Abnormal Calcium Handling Properties Underlie Familial Hypertrophic Cardiomyopathy Pathology in Patient-Specific Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells. Cell Stem Cell, 12: 101-113.

42. Burridge PW, Li YF, Matsa E, Wu H, Ong SG, Sharma A, Holmström A, Chang AC, Coronado MJ, Ebert AD, Knowles JW, Telli ML, Witteles RM, Blau HM, Bernstein D, Altman RB, Wu JC. (2016) Human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes recapitulate the predilection of breast cancer patients to doxorubicin-induced cardiotoxicity. Nat Med, 22: 547-556.

43. Sharma A, McKeithan WL, Serrano R, Kitani T, Burridge PW, Del Álamo JC, Mercola M, Wu JC. (2018) Use of human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes to assess drug cardiotoxicity. Nat Protoc, 13: 3018-3041.

44. Chi KR. (2013) Revolution dawning in cardiotoxicity testing. Nature Reviews Drug Discovery, 12: 565-567.

45. Takeda M, Miyagawa S, Fukushima S, Saito A, Ito E, Harada A, Matsuura R, Iseoka H, Sougawa N, Mochizuki-Oda N, Matsusaki M, Akashi M, Sawa Y. (2018) Development of In Vitro Drug-Induced Cardiotoxicity Assay by Using Three-Dimensional Cardiac Tissues Derived from Human Induced Pluripotent Stem Cells. Tissue Eng Part C Methods, 24: 56-67.

46. Radisic GC, Benjamin Fook Lun L, Rick Xing Ze L, Anastasia K, Erika Yan W, Milica. (2017) High-Content Assessment of Cardiac Function Using Heart-on-a-Chip Devices as Drug Screening Model. Stem Cell Reviews and Reports, 13: 335-346.

47. Chaudhari U, Nemade H, Wagh V, Gaspar JA, Ellis JK, Srinivasan SP, Spitkovski D, Nguemo F, Louisse J, Bremer S, Hescheler J, Keun HC, Hengstler JG, Sachinidis A. (2016) Identification of genomic biomarkers for anthracycline-induced cardiotoxicity in human iPSC-derived cardiomyocytes: an in vitro repeated exposure toxicity approach for safety assessment. Arch Toxicol, 90: 2763-2777.

48. Kopljar I, De Bondt A, Vinken P, Teisman A, Damiano B, Goeminne N, Van den Wyngaert I, Gallacher DJ, Lu HR. (2017) Chronic drug-induced effects on contractile motion properties and cardiac biomarkers in human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived cardiomyocytes. Br J Pharmacol, 174: 3766-3779.

49. Zhang L, Xu MX, Yin QS, Zhu CY, Cheng XL, Ren YR, Zhuang PW, Zhang YJ. (2017) Screening, verification, and analysis of biomarkers for drug-induced cardiac toxicity in vitro based on RTCA coupled with PCR Array technology. Toxicol Lett, 268: 17-25.

50. Wang W, Shi Q, Mattes WB, Mendrick DL, Yang X. (2015) Translating extracellular microRNA into clinical biomarkers for drug-induced toxicity: from high-throughput profiling to validation. Biomark Med, 9: 1177-1188.

51. Makkos A, Szántai Á, Pálóczi J, Pipis J, Kiss B, Poggi P, Ferdinandy P, Chatgilialoglu A, Görbe A. (2019) A Comorbidity Model of Myocardial Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury and Hypercholesterolemia in Rat Cardiac Myocyte Cultures. Front Physiol, 10: 1564.

52. Bombardier C, Laine L, Reicin A, Shapiro D, Burgos-Vargas R, Davis B, Day R, Ferraz MB, Hawkey CJ, Hochberg MC, Kvien TK, Schnitzer TJ. (2000) Comparison of upper gastrointestinal toxicity of rofecoxib and naproxen in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. VIGOR Study Group. N Engl J Med, 343: 1520-1528, 1522 p following 1528.

53. Bresalier RS, Sandler RS, Quan H, Bolognese JA, Oxenius B, Horgan K, Lines C, Riddell R, Morton D, Lanas A, Konstam MA, Baron JA. (2005) Cardiovascular events associated with rofecoxib in a colorectal adenoma chemoprevention trial. N Engl J Med, 352: 1092-1102.

54. Juni P, Nartey L, Reichenbach S, Sterchi R, Dieppe PA, Egger M. (2004) Risk of cardiovascular events and rofecoxib: cumulative meta-analysis. Lancet, 364: 2021-2029.

55. Zhang J, Ding EL, Song Y. (2006) Adverse effects of cyclooxygenase 2 inhibitors on renal and arrhythmia events: meta-analysis of randomized trials. Jama, 296: 1619-1632.

56. Salinas G, Rangasetty UC, Uretsky BF, Birnbaum Y. (2007) The cycloxygenase 2 (COX-2) story: it's time to explain, not inflame. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol Ther, 12: 98-111.

57. Gislason GH, Rasmussen JN, Abildstrom SZ, Schramm TK, Hansen ML, Fosbøl EL, Sørensen R, Folke F, Buch P, Gadsbøll N, Rasmussen S, Poulsen HE, Køber L, Madsen M, Torp-Pedersen C. (2009) Increased mortality and cardiovascular morbidity associated with use of nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory drugs in chronic heart failure. Arch Intern Med, 169: 141-149.

58. Ponikowski P, Voors AA, Anker SD, Bueno H, Cleland JGF, Coats AJS, Falk V, Gonzalez-Juanatey JR, Harjola VP, Jankowska EA, Jessup M, Linde C, Nihoyannopoulos P, Parissis JT, Pieske B, Riley JP, Rosano GMC, Ruilope LM, Ruschitzka F, Rutten FH, van der Meer P, Group ESCSD. (2016) 2016 ESC Guidelines for the diagnosis and

treatment of acute and chronic heart failure: The Task Force for the diagnosis and treatment of acute and chronic heart failure of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC)Developed with the special contribution of the Heart Failure Association (HFA) of the ESC. Eur Heart J, 37: 2129-2200.

59. Ambrosy AP, Fonarow GC, Butler J, Chioncel O, Greene SJ, Vaduganathan M, Nodari S, Lam CSP, Sato N, Shah AN, Gheorghiade M. (2014) The global health and economic burden of hospitalizations for heart failure: lessons learned from hospitalized heart failure registries. J Am Coll Cardiol, 63: 1123-1133.

60. Bleumink GS, Knetsch AM, Sturkenboom MC, Straus SM, Hofman A, Deckers JW, Witteman JC, Stricker BH. (2004) Quantifying the heart failure epidemic: prevalence, incidence rate, lifetime risk and prognosis of heart failure The Rotterdam Study. Eur Heart J, 25: 1614-1619.

61. Ceia F, Fonseca C, Mota T, Morais H, Matias F, de Sousa A, Oliveira A. (2002) Prevalence of chronic heart failure in Southwestern Europe: the EPICA study. Eur J Heart Fail, 4: 531-539.

62. Mosterd A, Hoes AW. (2007) Clinical epidemiology of heart failure. Heart, 93: 1137-1146.

63. Redfield MM, Jacobsen SJ, Burnett JC, Jr., Mahoney DW, Bailey KR, Rodeheffer RJ. (2003) Burden of systolic and diastolic ventricular dysfunction in the community: appreciating the scope of the heart failure epidemic. Jama, 289: 194-202.

64. Cowie MR. 2020.

65. Kaul P, Ezekowitz JA, Armstrong PW, Leung BK, Savu A, Welsh RC, Quan H, Knudtson ML, McAlister FA. (2013) Incidence of heart failure and mortality after acute coronary syndromes. Am Heart J, 165: 379-385.e372.

66. Hellermann JP, Jacobsen SJ, Gersh BJ, Rodeheffer RJ, Reeder GS, Roger VL.(2002) Heart failure after myocardial infarction: a review. Am J Med, 113: 324-330.

67. Elgendy IY, Mahtta D, Pepine CJ. (2019) Medical Therapy for Heart Failure Caused by Ischemic Heart Disease. Circ Res, 124: 1520-1535.

68. Szummer K, Wallentin L, Lindhagen L, Alfredsson J, Erlinge D, Held C, James S, Kellerth T, Lindahl B, Ravn-Fischer A, Rydberg E, Yndigegn T, Jernberg T. (2017) Improved outcomes in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction during the last

20 years are related to implementation of evidence-based treatments: experiences from the SWEDEHEART registry 1995-2014. Eur Heart J, 38: 3056-3065.

69. Bahit MC, Kochar A, Granger CB. (2018) Post-Myocardial Infarction Heart Failure. JACC Heart Fail, 6: 179-186.

70. Gerber Y, Weston SA, Enriquez-Sarano M, Berardi C, Chamberlain AM, Manemann SM, Jiang R, Dunlay SM, Roger VL. (2016) Mortality Associated With Heart Failure After Myocardial Infarction: A Contemporary Community Perspective. Circ Heart Fail, 9: e002460.

71. Windecker S, Kolh P, Alfonso F, Collet JP, Cremer J, Falk V, Filippatos G, Hamm C, Head SJ, Jüni P, Kappetein AP, Kastrati A, Knuuti J, Landmesser U, Laufer G, Neumann FJ, Richter DJ, Schauerte P, Sousa Uva M, Stefanini GG, Taggart DP, Torracca L, Valgimigli M, Wijns W, Witkowski A. (2014) 2014 ESC/EACTS Guidelines on myocardial revascularization: The Task Force on Myocardial Revascularization of the European Society of Cardiology (ESC) and the European Association for Cardio-Thoracic Surgery (EACTS)Developed with the special contribution of the European Association of Percutaneous Cardiovascular Interventions (EAPCI). Eur Heart J, 35: 2541-2619.

72. Heusch G. (2020) Myocardial ischaemia-reperfusion injury and cardioprotection in perspective. Nat Rev Cardiol, doi:10.1038/s41569-020-0403-y.

73. Kloner RA, Brown DA, Csete M, Dai W, Downey JM, Gottlieb RA, Hale SL, Shi J. (2017) New and revisited approaches to preserving the reperfused myocardium. Nat Rev Cardiol, 14: 679-693.

74. Stone GW, Selker HP, Thiele H, Patel MR, Udelson JE, Ohman EM, Maehara A, Eitel I, Granger CB, Jenkins PL, Nichols M, Ben-Yehuda O. (2016) Relationship Between Infarct Size and Outcomes Following Primary PCI: Patient-Level Analysis From 10 Randomized Trials. J Am Coll Cardiol, 67: 1674-1683.

75. Hausenloy DJ, Baxter G, Bell R, Bøtker HE, Davidson SM, Downey J, Heusch G, Kitakaze M, Lecour S, Mentzer R, Mocanu MM, Ovize M, Schulz R, Shannon R, Walker M, Walkinshaw G, Yellon DM. (2010) Translating novel strategies for cardioprotection: the Hatter Workshop Recommendations. Basic Res Cardiol, 105: 677-686.

76. Lefer DJ, Marbán E. (2017) Is Cardioprotection Dead? Circulation, 136: 98-109.

77. Hausenloy DJ, Erik Bøtker H, Condorelli G, Ferdinandy P, Garcia-Dorado D, Heusch G, Lecour S, van Laake LW, Madonna R, Ruiz-Meana M, Schulz R, Sluijter JP, Yellon DM, Ovize M. (2013) Translating cardioprotection for patient benefit: position paper from the Working Group of Cellular Biology of the Heart of the European Society of Cardiology. Cardiovasc Res, 98: 7-27.

78. Heusch G, Gersh BJ. (2020) Is Cardioprotection Salvageable? Circulation, 141: 415-417.

79. Goldbourt U, Behar S, Reicher-Reiss H, Zion M, Mandelzweig L, Kaplinsky E. (1993) Early administration of nifedipine in suspected acute myocardial infarction. The Secondary Prevention Reinfarction Israel Nifedipine Trial 2 Study. Arch Intern Med, 153: 345-353.

80. Flaherty JT, Pitt B, Gruber JW, Heuser RR, Rothbaum DA, Burwell LR, George BS, Kereiakes DJ, Deitchman D, Gustafson N, et al. (1994) Recombinant human superoxide dismutase (h-SOD) fails to improve recovery of ventricular function in patients undergoing coronary angioplasty for acute myocardial infarction. Circulation, 89: 1982-1991.

81. Wall TC, Califf RM, Blankenship J, Talley JD, Tannenbaum M, Schwaiger M, Gacioch G, Cohen MD, Sanz M, Leimberger JD, et al. (1994) Intravenous Fluosol in the treatment of acute myocardial infarction. Results of the Thrombolysis and Angioplasty in Myocardial Infarction 9 Trial. TAMI 9 Research Group. Circulation, 90: 114-120.

82. (2000) Effect of 48-h intravenous trimetazidine on short- and long-term outcomes of patients with acute myocardial infarction, with and without thrombolytic therapy; A double-blind, placebo-controlled, randomized trial. The EMIP-FR Group. European Myocardial Infarction Project--Free Radicals. Eur Heart J, 21: 1537-1546.

83. Zeymer U, Suryapranata H, Monassier JP, Opolski G, Davies J, Rasmanis G, Linssen G, Tebbe U, Schröder R, Tiemann R, Machnig T, Neuhaus KL. (2001) The Na(+)/H(+) exchange inhibitor eniporide as an adjunct to early reperfusion therapy for acute myocardial infarction. Results of the evaluation of the safety and cardioprotective effects of eniporide in acute myocardial infarction (ESCAMI) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol, 38: 1644-1650.

84. (2002) Early administration of intravenous magnesium to high-risk patients with acute myocardial infarction in the Magnesium in Coronaries (MAGIC) Trial: a randomised controlled trial. Lancet, 360: 1189-1196.

85. Mehta SR, Yusuf S, Díaz R, Zhu J, Pais P, Xavier D, Paolasso E, Ahmed R, Xie C, Kazmi K, Tai J, Orlandini A, Pogue J, Liu L. (2005) Effect of glucose-insulinpotassium infusion on mortality in patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: the CREATE-ECLA randomized controlled trial. Jama, 293: 437-446.

86. Kitakaze M, Asakura M, Kim J, Shintani Y, Asanuma H, Hamasaki T, Seguchi O, Myoishi M, Minamino T, Ohara T, Nagai Y, Nanto S, Watanabe K, Fukuzawa S, Hirayama A, Nakamura N, Kimura K, Fujii K, Ishihara M, Saito Y, Tomoike H, Kitamura S. (2007) Human atrial natriuretic peptide and nicorandil as adjuncts to reperfusion treatment for acute myocardial infarction (J-WIND): two randomised trials. Lancet, 370: 1483-1493.

87. Armstrong PW, Granger CB, Adams PX, Hamm C, Holmes D, Jr., O'Neill WW, Todaro TG, Vahanian A, Van de Werf F. (2007) Pexelizumab for acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction in patients undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention: a randomized controlled trial. Jama, 297: 43-51.

88. Atar D, Petzelbauer P, Schwitter J, Huber K, Rensing B, Kasprzak JD, Butter C, Grip L, Hansen PR, Süselbeck T, Clemmensen PM, Marin-Galiano M, Geudelin B, Buser PT. (2009) Effect of intravenous FX06 as an adjunct to primary percutaneous coronary intervention for acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction results of the F.I.R.E. (Efficacy of FX06 in the Prevention of Myocardial Reperfusion Injury) trial. J Am Coll Cardiol, 53: 720-729.

89. Voors AA, Belonje AM, Zijlstra F, Hillege HL, Anker SD, Slart RH, Tio RA, van 't Hof A, Jukema JW, Peels HO, Henriques JP, Ten Berg JM, Vos J, van Gilst WH, van Veldhuisen DJ. (2010) A single dose of erythropoietin in ST-elevation myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J, 31: 2593-2600.

90. Ott I, Schulz S, Mehilli J, Fichtner S, Hadamitzky M, Hoppe K, Ibrahim T, Martinoff S, Massberg S, Laugwitz KL, Dirschinger J, Schwaiger M, Kastrati A, Schmig A. (2010) Erythropoietin in patients with acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention: a randomized, double-blind trial. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 3: 408-413.

91. Najjar SS, Rao SV, Melloni C, Raman SV, Povsic TJ, Melton L, Barsness GW, Prather K, Heitner JF, Kilaru R, Gruberg L, Hasselblad V, Greenbaum AB, Patel M, Kim RJ, Talan M, Ferrucci L, Longo DL, Lakatta EG, Harrington RA. (2011) Intravenous erythropoietin in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: REVEAL: a randomized controlled trial. Jama, 305: 1863-1872.

92. Hahn JY, Kim HJ, Choi YJ, Jo SH, Kim HJ, Lee S, Ahn KJ, Song YB, Choi JH, Choi SH, Choi YJ, Lee KH, Lee SH, Gwon HC. (2011) Effects of atorvastatin pretreatment on infarct size in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Am Heart J, 162: 1026-1033.

93. Steg P, Lopez-de-Sà E, Schiele F, Hamon M, Meinertz T, Goicolea J, Werdan K, Lopez-Sendon JL. (2013) Safety of intravenous ivabradine in acute ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction patients treated with primary percutaneous coronary intervention: a randomized, placebo-controlled, double-blind, pilot study. Eur Heart J Acute Cardiovasc Care, 2: 270-279.

94. Lincoff AM, Roe M, Aylward P, Galla J, Rynkiewicz A, Guetta V, Zelizko M, Kleiman N, White H, McErlean E, Erlinge D, Laine M, Dos Santos Ferreira JM, Goodman S, Mehta S, Atar D, Suryapranata H, Jensen SE, Forster T, Fernandez-Ortiz A, Schoors D, Radke P, Belli G, Brennan D, Bell G, Krucoff M. (2014) Inhibition of deltaprotein kinase C by delcasertib as an adjunct to primary percutaneous coronary intervention for acute anterior ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: results of the PROTECTION AMI Randomized Controlled Trial. Eur Heart J, 35: 2516-2523.

95. Erlinge D, Götberg M, Lang I, Holzer M, Noc M, Clemmensen P, Jensen U, Metzler B, James S, Bötker HE, Omerovic E, Engblom H, Carlsson M, Arheden H, Ostlund O, Wallentin L, Harnek J, Olivecrona GK. (2014) Rapid endovascular catheter core cooling combined with cold saline as an adjunct to percutaneous coronary intervention for the treatment of acute myocardial infarction. The CHILL-MI trial: a randomized controlled study of the use of central venous catheter core cooling combined with cold saline as an adjunct to percutaneous coronary intervention for the treatment of acute myocardial infarction. The CHILL-MI trial: a controlled study of the use of central venous catheter core cooling combined with cold saline as an adjunct to percutaneous coronary intervention for the treatment of acute myocardial infarction. J Am Coll Cardiol, 63: 1857-1865.

96. Siddiqi N, Neil C, Bruce M, MacLennan G, Cotton S, Papadopoulou S, Feelisch M, Bunce N, Lim PO, Hildick-Smith D, Horowitz J, Madhani M, Boon N, Dawson D, Kaski JC, Frenneaux M. (2014) Intravenous sodium nitrite in acute ST-elevation

myocardial infarction: a randomized controlled trial (NIAMI). Eur Heart J, 35: 1255-1262.

97. Atar D, Arheden H, Berdeaux A, Bonnet JL, Carlsson M, Clemmensen P, Cuvier V, Danchin N, Dubois-Randé JL, Engblom H, Erlinge D, Firat H, Halvorsen S, Hansen HS, Hauke W, Heiberg E, Koul S, Larsen AI, Le Corvoisier P, Nordrehaug JE, Paganelli F, Pruss RM, Rousseau H, Schaller S, Sonou G, Tuseth V, Veys J, Vicaut E, Jensen SE. (2015) Effect of intravenous TRO40303 as an adjunct to primary percutaneous coronary intervention for acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction: MITOCARE study results. Eur Heart J, 36: 112-119.

98. Cung TT, Morel O, Cayla G, Rioufol G, Garcia-Dorado D, Angoulvant D, Bonnefoy-Cudraz E, Guérin P, Elbaz M, Delarche N, Coste P, Vanzetto G, Metge M, Aupetit JF, Jouve B, Motreff P, Tron C, Labeque JN, Steg PG, Cottin Y, Range G, Clerc J, Claeys MJ, Coussement P, Prunier F, Moulin F, Roth O, Belle L, Dubois P, Barragan P, Gilard M, Piot C, Colin P, De Poli F, Morice MC, Ider O, Dubois-Randé JL, Unterseeh T, Le Breton H, Béard T, Blanchard D, Grollier G, Malquarti V, Staat P, Sudre A, Elmer E, Hansson MJ, Bergerot C, Boussaha I, Jossan C, Derumeaux G, Mewton N, Ovize M. (2015) Cyclosporine before PCI in Patients with Acute Myocardial Infarction. N Engl J Med, 373: 1021-1031.

99. Gibson CM, Giugliano RP, Kloner RA, Bode C, Tendera M, Jánosi A, Merkely B, Godlewski J, Halaby R, Korjian S, Daaboul Y, Chakrabarti AK, Spielman K, Neal BJ, Weaver WD. (2016) EMBRACE STEMI study: a Phase 2a trial to evaluate the safety, tolerability, and efficacy of intravenous MTP-131 on reperfusion injury in patients undergoing primary percutaneous coronary intervention. Eur Heart J, 37: 1296-1303.

100. Ottani F, Latini R, Staszewsky L, La Vecchia L, Locuratolo N, Sicuro M, Masson S, Barlera S, Milani V, Lombardi M, Costalunga A, Mollichelli N, Santarelli A, De Cesare N, Sganzerla P, Boi A, Maggioni AP, Limbruno U. (2016) Cyclosporine A in Reperfused Myocardial Infarction: The Multicenter, Controlled, Open-Label CYCLE Trial. J Am Coll Cardiol, 67: 365-374.

101. Roolvink V, Ibáñez B, Ottervanger JP, Pizarro G, van Royen N, Mateos A, Dambrink JE, Escalera N, Lipsic E, Albarran A, Fernández-Ortiz A, Fernández-Avilés F, Goicolea J, Botas J, Remkes W, Hernandez-Jaras V, Kedhi E, Zamorano JL, Navarro F, Alfonso F, García-Lledó A, Alonso J, van Leeuwen M, Nijveldt R, Postma S, Kolkman E, Gosselink M, de Smet B, Rasoul S, Piek JJ, Fuster V, van 't Hof AWJ. (2016) Early Intravenous Beta-Blockers in Patients With ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction Before Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention. J Am Coll Cardiol, 67: 2705-2715. 102. Dominguez-Rodriguez A, Abreu-Gonzalez P, de la Torre-Hernandez JM, Gonzalez-Gonzalez J, Garcia-Camarero T, Consuegra-Sanchez L, Garcia-Saiz MD, Aldea-Perona A, Virgos-Aller T, Azpeitia A, Reiter RJ. (2017) Effect of intravenous and intracoronary melatonin as an adjunct to primary percutaneous coronary intervention for acute ST-elevation myocardial infarction: Results of the Melatonin Adjunct in the acute myocaRdial Infarction treated with Angioplasty trial. J Pineal Res, 62.

103. Engstrøm T, Kelbæk H, Helqvist S, Høfsten DE, Kløvgaard L, Clemmensen P, Holmvang L, Jørgensen E, Pedersen F, Saunamaki K, Ravkilde J, Tilsted HH, Villadsen A, Aarøe J, Jensen SE, Raungaard B, Bøtker HE, Terkelsen CJ, Maeng M, Kaltoft A, Krusell LR, Jensen LO, Veien KT, Kofoed KF, Torp-Pedersen C, Kyhl K, Nepper-Christensen L, Treiman M, Vejlstrup N, Ahtarovski K, Lønborg J, Køber L. (2017) Effect of Ischemic Postconditioning During Primary Percutaneous Coronary Intervention for Patients With ST-Segment Elevation Myocardial Infarction: A Randomized Clinical Trial. JAMA Cardiol, 2: 490-497.

104. Janssens SP, Bogaert J, Zalewski J, Toth A, Adriaenssens T, Belmans A, Bennett J, Claus P, Desmet W, Dubois C, Goetschalckx K, Sinnaeve P, Vandenberghe K, Vermeersch P, Lux A, Szelid Z, Durak M, Lech P, Zmudka K, Pokreisz P, Vranckx P, Merkely B, Bloch KD, Van de Werf F. (2018) Nitric oxide for inhalation in ST-elevation myocardial infarction (NOMI): a multicentre, double-blind, randomized controlled trial. Eur Heart J, 39: 2717-2725.

105. Hausenloy DJ, Kharbanda RK, Møller UK, Ramlall M, Aarøe J, Butler R, Bulluck H, Clayton T, Dana A, Dodd M, Engstrom T, Evans R, Lassen JF, Christensen EF, Garcia-Ruiz JM, Gorog DA, Hjort J, Houghton RF, Ibanez B, Knight R, Lippert FK, Lønborg JT, Maeng M, Milasinovic D, More R, Nicholas JM, Jensen LO, Perkins A, Radovanovic N, Rakhit RD, Ravkilde J, Ryding AD, Schmidt MR, Riddervold IS, Sørensen HT, Stankovic G, Varma M, Webb I, Terkelsen CJ, Greenwood JP, Yellon DM, Bøtker HE. (2019) Effect of remote ischaemic conditioning on clinical outcomes in patients with acute myocardial infarction (CONDI-2/ERIC-PPCI): a single-blind randomised controlled trial. Lancet, 394: 1415-1424.

106. Garcia-Dorado D, Hospital Universitari Vall d'Hebron CDBS, Otaegui I, Hospital Universitari Vall d'Hebron CDBS, Rodriguez Palomares JF, Hospital Universitari Vall d'Hebron CDBS, Evangelista A, Hospital Universitari Vall d'Hebron CDBS, Pineda V, Hospital Universitari Vall d'Hebron CDBS, Ruiz Salmeron R, University Hospital of Virgen Macarena SS, Gimeno F, Clinic University Hospital of Valladolid IVS, Fernandez Aviles F, University General Hospital Gregorio Maranon DoCMS, San Roman A, Clinic University Hospital of Valladolid IVS, Garcia Del Blanco B, Hospital Universitari Vall d'Hebron CDBS. (2013) Primary results of the PROMISE trial: myocardial protection with intracoronary adenosine given before reperfusion in patients with STEMI. European Heart Journal, 34.

107. Jones DA, Andiapen M, Van-Eijl TJ, Webb AJ, Antoniou S, Schilling RJ, Ahluwalia A, Mathur A. (2013) The safety and efficacy of intracoronary nitrite infusion during acute myocardial infarction (NITRITE-AMI): study protocol of a randomised controlled trial. BMJ Open, 3.

108. Scholte M, Timmers L, Bernink FJ, Denham RN, Beek AM, Kamp O, Diamant M, Horrevoets AJ, Niessen HW, Chen WJ, van Rossum AC, van Royen N, Doevendans PA, Appelman Y. (2011) Effect of additional treatment with EXenatide in patients with an Acute Myocardial Infarction (EXAMI): study protocol for a randomized controlled trial. Trials, 12: 240.

 Pernow J. (2020) Reduction in Infarct Size by Remote Per-postconditioning in Patients With ST-elevation Myocardial Infarction - Full Text View - ClinicalTrials.gov.
Rusnak JM, Kopecky SL, Clements IP, Gibbons RJ, Holland AE, Peterman HS, Martin JS, Saoud JB, Feldman RL, Breisblatt WM, Simons M, Gessler CJ, Jr., Yu AS. (2001) An anti-CD11/CD18 monoclonal antibody in patients with acute myocardial infarction having percutaneous transluminal coronary angioplasty (the FESTIVAL study). Am J Cardiol, 88: 482-487.

111. Chan W, Taylor AJ, Ellims AH, Lefkovits L, Wong C, Kingwell BA, Natoli A, Croft KD, Mori T, Kaye DM, Dart AM, Duffy SJ. (2012) Effect of iron chelation on myocardial infarct size and oxidative stress in ST-elevation-myocardial infarction. Circ Cardiovasc Interv, 5: 270-278.

112. Karlsson JE, El-Saadi W, Ali M, Puskar W, Skogvard P, Engvall JE, Andersson RG, Maret E, Jynge P. (2015) Mangafodipir as a cardioprotective adjunct to reperfusion

therapy: a feasibility study in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Pharmacother, 1: 39-45.

113. Lavi S, Alemayehu M, McCarty D, Warrington J, Lavi R. (2015) One-year outcome of the sevoflurane in acute myocardial infarction randomized trial. Can J Anaesth, 62: 1279-1286.

114. Caplice NM, DeVoe MC, Choi J, Dahly D, Murphy T, Spitzer E, Van Geuns R, Maher MM, Tuite D, Kerins DM, Ali MT, Kalyar I, Fahy EF, Khider W, Kelly P, Kearney PP, Curtin RJ, O'Shea C, Vaughan CJ, Eustace JA, McFadden EP. (2018) Randomized placebo controlled trial evaluating the safety and efficacy of single low-dose intracoronary insulin-like growth factor following percutaneous coronary intervention in acute myocardial infarction (RESUS-AMI). Am Heart J, 200: 110-117.

 Hausenloy DJ, Candilio L, Evans R, Ariti C, Jenkins DP, Kolvekar S, Knight R, Kunst G, Laing C, Nicholas J, Pepper J, Robertson S, Xenou M, Clayton T, Yellon DM. (2015) Remote Ischemic Preconditioning and Outcomes of Cardiac Surgery. N Engl J Med, 373: 1408-1417.

116. Meybohm P, Bein B, Brosteanu O, Cremer J, Gruenewald M, Stoppe C, Coburn M, Schaelte G, Böning A, Niemann B, Roesner J, Kletzin F, Strouhal U, Reyher C, Laufenberg-Feldmann R, Ferner M, Brandes IF, Bauer M, Stehr SN, Kortgen A, Wittmann M, Baumgarten G, Meyer-Treschan T, Kienbaum P, Heringlake M, Schön J, Sander M, Treskatsch S, Smul T, Wolwender E, Schilling T, Fuernau G, Hasenclever D, Zacharowski K. (2015) A Multicenter Trial of Remote Ischemic Preconditioning for Heart Surgery. N Engl J Med, 373: 1397-1407.

117. (2020) Prospective ARNI vs ACE Inhibitor Trial to DetermIne Superiority in Reducing Heart Failure Events After MI - Full Text View - ClinicalTrials.gov.

118. McMurray JJ, Packer M, Desai AS, Gong J, Lefkowitz MP, Rizkala AR, Rouleau JL, Shi VC, Solomon SD, Swedberg K, Zile MR. (2014) Angiotensin-neprilysin inhibition versus enalapril in heart failure. N Engl J Med, 371: 993-1004.

119. Yancy CW, Jessup M, Bozkurt B, Butler J, Casey DE, Jr., Colvin MM, Drazner MH, Filippatos GS, Fonarow GC, Givertz MM, Hollenberg SM, Lindenfeld J, Masoudi FA, McBride PE, Peterson PN, Stevenson LW, Westlake C. (2017) 2017 ACC/AHA/HFSA Focused Update of the 2013 ACCF/AHA Guideline for the Management of Heart Failure: A Report of the American College of
Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines and the Heart Failure Society of America. Circulation, 136: e137-e161.

120. Bauersachs J. (2021) Heart failure drug treatment: the fantastic four. Eur Heart J,42: 681-683.

121. Tripolt NJ, Kolesnik E, Pferschy PN, Verheyen N, Ablasser K, Sailer S, Alber H, Berger R, Kaulfersch C, Leitner K, Lichtenauer M, Mader A, Moertl D, Oulhaj A, Reiter C, Rieder T, Saely CH, Siller-Matula J, Weidinger F, Zechner PM, von Lewinski D, Sourij H. (2020) Impact of EMpagliflozin on cardiac function and biomarkers of heart failure in patients with acute MYocardial infarction-The EMMY trial. Am Heart J, 221: 39-47.

122. Zinman B, Wanner C, Lachin JM, Fitchett D, Bluhmki E, Hantel S, Mattheus M, Devins T, Johansen OE, Woerle HJ, Broedl UC, Inzucchi SE. (2015) Empagliflozin, Cardiovascular Outcomes, and Mortality in Type 2 Diabetes. N Engl J Med, 373: 2117-2128.

123. Armstrong PW, Roessig L, Patel MJ, Anstrom KJ, Butler J, Voors AA, Lam CSP, Ponikowski P, Temple T, Pieske B, Ezekowitz J, Hernandez AF, Koglin J, O'Connor CM. (2018) A Multicenter, Randomized, Double-Blind, Placebo-Controlled Trial of the Efficacy and Safety of the Oral Soluble Guanylate Cyclase Stimulator: The VICTORIA Trial. JACC Heart Fail, 6: 96-104.

124. Swedberg K, Komajda M, Böhm M, Borer JS, Ford I, Dubost-Brama A, Lerebours G, Tavazzi L. (2010) Ivabradine and outcomes in chronic heart failure (SHIFT): a randomised placebo-controlled study. Lancet, 376: 875-885.

125. Gerber Y, Weston SA, Redfield MM, Chamberlain AM, Manemann SM, Jiang R, Killian JM, Roger VL. (2015) A contemporary appraisal of the heart failure epidemic in Olmsted County, Minnesota, 2000 to 2010. JAMA Intern Med, 175: 996-1004.

126. Lecour S, Bøtker HE, Condorelli G, Davidson SM, Garcia-Dorado D, Engel FB, Ferdinandy P, Heusch G, Madonna R, Ovize M, Ruiz-Meana M, Schulz R, Sluijter JP, Van Laake LW, Yellon DM, Hausenloy DJ. (2014) ESC working group cellular biology of the heart: position paper: improving the preclinical assessment of novel cardioprotective therapies. Cardiovasc Res, 104: 399-411.

127. Bøtker HE, Hausenloy D, Andreadou I, Antonucci S, Boengler K, Davidson SM, Deshwal S, Devaux Y, Di Lisa F, Di Sante M, Efentakis P, Femminò S, García-Dorado

D, Giricz Z, Ibanez B, Iliodromitis E, Kaludercic N, Kleinbongard P, Neuhäuser M, Ovize M, Pagliaro P, Rahbek-Schmidt M, Ruiz-Meana M, Schlüter KD, Schulz R, Skyschally A, Wilder C, Yellon DM, Ferdinandy P, Heusch G. (2018) Practical guidelines for rigor and reproducibility in preclinical and clinical studies on cardioprotection. Basic Res Cardiol, 113: 39.

128. Cesarovic N, Lipiski M, Falk V, Emmert MY. (2020) Animals in cardiovascular research. Eur Heart J, 41: 200-203.

129. Milani-Nejad N, Janssen PM. (2014) Small and large animal models in cardiac contraction research: advantages and disadvantages. Pharmacol Ther, 141: 235-249.

130. Lindsey ML, Bolli R, Canty JM, Jr., Du XJ, Frangogiannis NG, Frantz S, Gourdie RG, Holmes JW, Jones SP, Kloner RA, Lefer DJ, Liao R, Murphy E, Ping P, Przyklenk K, Recchia FA, Schwartz Longacre L, Ripplinger CM, Van Eyk JE, Heusch G. (2018) Guidelines for experimental models of myocardial ischemia and infarction. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 314: H812-h838.

131. Lukács E, Magyari B, Tóth L, Petrási Z, Repa I, Koller A, Horváth I. (2012)Overview of large animal myocardial infarction models (review). Acta Physiol Hung, 99: 365-381.

132. Hervas A, Ruiz-Sauri A, de Dios E, Forteza MJ, Minana G, Nunez J, Gomez C, Bonanad C, Perez-Sole N, Gavara J, Chorro FJ, Bodi V. (2016) Inhomogeneity of collagen organization within the fibrotic scar after myocardial infarction: results in a swine model and in human samples. J Anat, 228: 47-58.

133. Gutierrez K, Dicks N, Glanzner WG, Agellon LB, Bordignon V. (2015) Efficacy of the porcine species in biomedical research. Front Genet, 6: 293.

134. Lelovas PP, Kostomitsopoulos NG, Xanthos TT. (2014) A comparative anatomic and physiologic overview of the porcine heart. J Am Assoc Lab Anim Sci, 53: 432-438.

135. Bollen PJA. (2010) < The Laboratory Swine, 2nd Edition.pdf>.

136. Brenner GB, Makkos A, Nagy CT, Onódi Z, Sayour NV, Gergely TG, Kiss B,
Görbe A, Sághy É, Zádori ZS, Lázár B, Baranyai T, Varga RS, Husti Z, Varró A,
Tóthfalusi L, Schulz R, Baczkó I, Giricz Z, Ferdinandy P. (2020) Hidden Cardiotoxicity
of Rofecoxib Can be Revealed in Experimental Models of Ischemia/Reperfusion. Cells,
9.

137. Brenner GB, Giricz Z, Garamvölgyi R, Makkos A, Onódi Z, Sayour NV, Gergely TG, Baranyai T, Petneházy Ö, Kőrösi D, Szabó GP, Vago H, Dohy Z, Czimbalmos C, Merkely B, Boldin-Adamsky S, Feinstein E, Horváth IG, Ferdinandy P. (2021) Post-Myocardial Infarction Heart Failure in Closed-chest Coronary Occlusion/Reperfusion Model in Göttingen Minipigs and Landrace Pigs. Journal of Visualized Experiments, doi:10.3791/61901.

138. Gislason GH, Jacobsen S, Rasmussen JN, Rasmussen S, Buch P, Friberg J, Schramm TK, Abildstrom SZ, Kober L, Madsen M, Torp-Pedersen C. (2006) Risk of death or reinfarction associated with the use of selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors and nonselective nonsteroidal antiinflammatory drugs after acute myocardial infarction. Circulation, 113: 2906-2913.

139. Antzelevitch C, Fish J. (2001) Electrical heterogeneity within the ventricular wall.Basic Res Cardiol, 96: 517-527.

140. Janse MJ, Wit AL. (1989) Electrophysiological mechanisms of ventricular arrhythmias resulting from myocardial ischemia and infarction. Physiol Rev, 69: 1049-1169.

141. Kleber AG, Janse MJ, Wilms-Schopmann FJ, Wilde AA, Coronel R. (1986) Changes in conduction velocity during acute ischemia in ventricular myocardium of the isolated porcine heart. Circulation, 73: 189-198.

142. Wang D, Patel VV, Ricciotti E, Zhou R, Levin MD, Gao E, Yu Z, Ferrari VA, Lu MM, Xu J, Zhang H, Hui Y, Cheng Y, Petrenko N, Yu Y, FitzGerald GA. (2009) Cardiomyocyte cyclooxygenase-2 influences cardiac rhythm and function. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106: 7548-7552.

143. Ferdinandy P, Hausenloy DJ, Heusch G, Baxter GF, Schulz R. (2014) Interaction of risk factors, comorbidities, and comedications with ischemia/reperfusion injury and cardioprotection by preconditioning, postconditioning, and remote conditioning. Pharmacol Rev, 66: 1142-1174.

144. Sarapa N, Britto MR, Cotton B, Cox SR, Francom SF, Jin N, Polasek ED, Sainati SM, Crosby-Sessoms SL, Fleishaker JC. (2003) Valdecoxib, a COX-2-specific inhibitor, does not affect cardiac repolarization. J Clin Pharmacol, 43: 974-982.

145. Nussmeier NA, Whelton AA, Brown MT, Joshi GP, Langford RM, Singla NK, Boye ME, Verburg KM. (2006) Safety and efficacy of the cyclooxygenase-2 inhibitors parecoxib and valdecoxib after noncardiac surgery. Anesthesiology, 104: 518-526.

146. Nussmeier NA, Whelton AA, Brown MT, Langford RM, Hoeft A, Parlow JL, Boyce SW, Verburg KM. (2005) Complications of the COX-2 inhibitors parecoxib and valdecoxib after cardiac surgery. N Engl J Med, 352: 1081-1091.

147. Timmers L, Sluijter JP, Verlaan CW, Steendijk P, Cramer MJ, Emons M, Strijder C, Grundeman PF, Sze SK, Hua L, Piek JJ, Borst C, Pasterkamp G, de Kleijn DP. (2007) Cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition increases mortality, enhances left ventricular remodeling, and impairs systolic function after myocardial infarction in the pig. Circulation, 115: 326-332.

148. Solomon SD, McMurray JJ, Pfeffer MA, Wittes J, Fowler R, Finn P, Anderson WF, Zauber A, Hawk E, Bertagnolli M. (2005) Cardiovascular risk associated with celecoxib in a clinical trial for colorectal adenoma prevention. N Engl J Med, 352: 1071-1080.

149. Nissen SE. (2017) Cardiovascular Safety of Celecoxib, Naproxen, or Ibuprofen for Arthritis. N Engl J Med, 376: 1390.

 Lada-Moldovan L, Kaloustian S, Bah TM, Girard SA, Dery MA, Rousseau G.
 (2009) Chronic pretreatment with celecoxib reduces infarct size. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol, 54: 31-37.

151. Saito T, Rodger IW, Shennib H, Hu F, Tayara L, Giaid A. (2003) Cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) in acute myocardial infarction: cellular expression and use of selective COX-2 inhibitor. Can J Physiol Pharmacol, 81: 114-119.

152. Scheuren N, Jacobs M, Ertl G, Schorb W. (2002) Cyclooxygenase-2 in myocardium stimulation by angiotensin-II in cultured cardiac fibroblasts and role at acute myocardial infarction. J Mol Cell Cardiol, 34: 29-37.

153. Salloum FN, Hoke NN, Seropian IM, Varma A, Ownby ED, Houser JE, Van Tassell BW, Abbate A. (2009) Parecoxib inhibits apoptosis in acute myocardial infarction due to permanent coronary ligation but not due to ischemia-reperfusion. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol, 53: 495-498.

154. LaPointe MC, Mendez M, Leung A, Tao Z, Yang XP. (2004) Inhibition of cyclooxygenase-2 improves cardiac function after myocardial infarction in the mouse. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 286: H1416-1424.

155. Carnieto A, Jr., Dourado PM, Luz PL, Chagas AC. (2009) Selective cyclooxygenase-2 inhibition protects against myocardial damage in experimental acute ischemia. Clinics (Sao Paulo), 64: 245-252.

156. Inserte J, Molla B, Aguilar R, Traves PG, Barba I, Martin-Sanz P, Bosca L, Casado M, Garcia-Dorado D. (2009) Constitutive COX-2 activity in cardiomyocytes confers permanent cardioprotection Constitutive COX-2 expression and cardioprotection. J Mol Cell Cardiol, 46: 160-168.

157. Guo Y, Nong Y, Tukaye DN, Rokosh G, Du J, Zhu X, Book M, Tomlin A, Li Q, Bolli R. (2019) Inducible cardiac-specific overexpression of cyclooxygenase-2 (COX-2) confers resistance to ischemia/reperfusion injury. Basic Res Cardiol, 114: 32.

158. Pang L, Cai Y, Tang EH, Yan D, Kosuru R, Li H, Irwin MG, Ma H, Xia Z. (2016) Cox-2 Inhibition Protects against Hypoxia/Reoxygenation-Induced Cardiomyocyte Apoptosis via Akt-Dependent Enhancement of iNOS Expression. Oxid Med Cell Longev, 2016: 3453059.

159. Sivarajah A, McDonald MC, Thiemermann C. (2005) The cardioprotective effects of preconditioning with endotoxin, but not ischemia, are abolished by a peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma antagonist. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 313: 896-901.

160. Shinmura K, Tang XL, Wang Y, Xuan YT, Liu SQ, Takano H, Bhatnagar A, Bolli R. (2000) Cyclooxygenase-2 mediates the cardioprotective effects of the late phase of ischemic preconditioning in conscious rabbits. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 97: 10197-10202.

161. Bolli R, Shinmura K, Tang XL, Kodani E, Xuan YT, Guo Y, Dawn B. (2002) Discovery of a new function of cyclooxygenase (COX)-2: COX-2 is a cardioprotective protein that alleviates ischemia/reperfusion injury and mediates the late phase of preconditioning. Cardiovasc Res, 55: 506-519.

162. Sato H, Bolli R, Rokosh GD, Bi Q, Dai S, Shirk G, Tang XL. (2007) The cardioprotection of the late phase of ischemic preconditioning is enhanced by postconditioning via a COX-2-mediated mechanism in conscious rats. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 293: H2557-2564.

163. Maulik A, Davidson SM, Piotrowska I, Walker M, Yellon DM. (2018) Ischaemic Preconditioning Protects Cardiomyocytes from Anthracycline-Induced Toxicity via the PI3K Pathway. Cardiovasc Drugs Ther, 32: 245-253.

164. Chung R, Maulik A, Hamarneh A, Hochhauser D, Hausenloy DJ, Walker JM, Yellon DM. (2016) Effect of Remote Ischaemic Conditioning in Oncology Patients Undergoing Chemotherapy: Rationale and Design of the ERIC-ONC Study--A Single-Center, Blinded, Randomized Controlled Trial. Clin Cardiol, 39: 72-82.

165. Hausenloy DJ, Garcia-Dorado D, Bøtker HE, Davidson SM, Downey J, Engel FB, Jennings R, Lecour S, Leor J, Madonna R, Ovize M, Perrino C, Prunier F, Schulz R, Sluijter JPG, Van Laake LW, Vinten-Johansen J, Yellon DM, Ytrehus K, Heusch G, Ferdinandy P. (2017) Novel targets and future strategies for acute cardioprotection: Position Paper of the European Society of Cardiology Working Group on Cellular Biology of the Heart. Cardiovasc Res, 113: 564-585.

166. Baranyai T, Giricz Z, Varga ZV, Koncsos G, Lukovic D, Makkos A, Sárközy M, Pávó N, Jakab A, Czimbalmos C, Vágó H, Ruzsa Z, Tóth L, Garamvölgyi R, Merkely B, Schulz R, Gyöngyösi M, Ferdinandy P. (2017) In vivo MRI and ex vivo histological assessment of the cardioprotection induced by ischemic preconditioning, postconditioning and remote conditioning in a closed-chest porcine model of reperfused acute myocardial infarction: importance of microvasculature. J Transl Med, 15: 67.

167. Giricz Z, Makkos A, Schreckenberg R, Pöling J, Lörchner H, Kiss K, Bencsik P, Braun T, Schulz R, Ferdinandy P, Schlüter KD. (2020) Swiprosin-1/EFhD-2 Expression in Cardiac Remodeling and Post-Infarct Repair: Effect of Ischemic Conditioning. Int J Mol Sci, 21.

168. Gyöngyösi M, Sperker W, Csonka C, Bonderman D, Lang I, Strehblow C, Adlbrecht C, Shirazi M, Windberger U, Marlovits S, Gottsauner-Wolf M, Wexberg P, Kockx M, Ferdinandy P, Glogar D. (2003) Inhibition of interleukin-1beta convertase is associated with decrease of neointimal hyperplasia after coronary artery stenting in pigs. Mol Cell Biochem, 249: 39-43.

169. Gyöngyösi M, Strehblow C, Sperker W, Hevesi A, Garamvölgyi R, Petrási Z, Pavo N, Ferdinandy P, Csonka C, Csont T, Sylvèn C, Declerck PJ, Pavo I, Jr., Wojta J, Glogar D, Huber K. (2006) Platelet activation and high tissue factor level predict acute

stent thrombosis in pig coronary arteries: prothrombogenic response of drug-eluting or bare stent implantation within the first 24 hours. Thromb Haemost, 96: 202-209.

170. Lukovic D, Gugerell A, Zlabinger K, Winkler J, Pavo N, Baranyai T, Giricz Z, Varga ZV, Riesenhuber M, Spannbauer A, Traxler D, Jakab A, Garamvölgyi R, Petnehazy Ö, Pils D, Tóth L, Schulz R, Ferdinandy P, Gyöngyösi M. (2019) Transcriptional Alterations by Ischaemic Postconditioning in a Pig Infarction Model: Impact on Microvascular Protection. Int J Mol Sci, 20.

171. Pavo N, Emmert MY, Giricz Z, Varga ZV, Ankersmit HJ, Maurer G, Hoerstrup SP, Ferdinandy P, Wu JC, Gyöngyösi M. (2014) On-line visualization of ischemic burden during repetitive ischemia/reperfusion. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging, 7: 956-958.

172. Lønborg J, Vejlstrup N, Kelbæk H, Holmvang L, Jørgensen E, Helqvist S, Saunamäki K, Ahtarovski KA, Bøtker HE, Kim WY, Clemmensen P, Engstrøm T. (2013) Final infarct size measured by cardiovascular magnetic resonance in patients with ST elevation myocardial infarction predicts long-term clinical outcome: an observational study. Eur Heart J Cardiovasc Imaging, 14: 387-395.

173. Karantalis V, Suncion-Loescher VY, Bagno L, Golpanian S, Wolf A, Sanina C, Premer C, Kanelidis AJ, McCall F, Wang B, Balkan W, Rodriguez J, Rosado M, Morales A, Hatzistergos K, Natsumeda M, Margitich I, Schulman IH, Gomes SA, Mushtaq M, DiFede DL, Fishman JE, Pattany P, Zambrano JP, Heldman AW, Hare JM. (2015) Synergistic Effects of Combined Cell Therapy for Chronic Ischemic Cardiomyopathy. J Am Coll Cardiol, 66: 1990-1999.

174. Natsumeda M, Florea V, Rieger AC, Tompkins BA, Banerjee MN, Golpanian S, Fritsch J, Landin AM, Kashikar ND, Karantalis V, Loescher VY, Hatzistergos KE, Bagno L, Sanina C, Mushtaq M, Rodriguez J, Rosado M, Wolf A, Collon K, Vincent L, Kanelidis AJ, Schulman IH, Mitrani R, Heldman AW, Balkan W, Hare JM. (2017) A Combination of Allogeneic Stem Cells Promotes Cardiac Regeneration. J Am Coll Cardiol, 70: 2504-2515.

175. Quevedo HC, Hatzistergos KE, Oskouei BN, Feigenbaum GS, Rodriguez JE, Valdes D, Pattany PM, Zambrano JP, Hu Q, McNiece I, Heldman AW, Hare JM. (2009) Allogeneic mesenchymal stem cells restore cardiac function in chronic ischemic cardiomyopathy via trilineage differentiating capacity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 106: 14022-14027.

176. Schuleri KH, Centola M, Choi SH, Evers KS, Dawoud F, George RT, Lima JA, Lardo AC. (2011) CT for evaluation of myocardial cell therapy in heart failure: a comparison with CMR imaging. JACC Cardiovasc Imaging, 4: 1284-1293.

177. Schuleri KH, Centola M, Evers KS, Zviman A, Evers R, Lima JA, Lardo AC. (2012) Cardiovascular magnetic resonance characterization of peri-infarct zone remodeling following myocardial infarction. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson, 14: 24.

178. Schuleri KH, Feigenbaum GS, Centola M, Weiss ES, Zimmet JM, Turney J, Kellner J, Zviman MM, Hatzistergos KE, Detrick B, Conte JV, McNiece I, Steenbergen C, Lardo AC, Hare JM. (2009) Autologous mesenchymal stem cells produce reverse remodelling in chronic ischaemic cardiomyopathy. Eur Heart J, 30: 2722-2732.

179. Jansen of Lorkeers SJ, Gho JM, Koudstaal S, van Hout GP, Zwetsloot PP, van Oorschot JW, van Eeuwijk EC, Leiner T, Hoefer IE, Goumans MJ, Doevendans PA, Sluijter JP, Chamuleau SA. (2015) Xenotransplantation of Human Cardiomyocyte Progenitor Cells Does Not Improve Cardiac Function in a Porcine Model of Chronic Ischemic Heart Failure. Results from a Randomized, Blinded, Placebo Controlled Trial. PLoS One, 10: e0143953.

180. van Hout GP, Jansen of Lorkeers SJ, Gho JM, Doevendans PA, van Solinge WW, Pasterkamp G, Chamuleau SA, Hoefer IE. (2014) Admittance-based pressure-volume loops versus gold standard cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in a porcine model of myocardial infarction. Physiol Rep, 2: e00287.

181. Thavapalachandran S, Grieve SM, Hume RD, Le TYL, Raguram K, Hudson JE, Pouliopoulos J, Figtree GA, Dye RP, Barry AM, Brown P, Lu J, Coffey S, Kesteven SH, Mills RJ, Rashid FN, Taran E, Kovoor P, Thomas L, Denniss AR, Kizana E, Asli NS, Xaymardan M, Feneley MP, Graham RM, Harvey RP, Chong JJH. (2020) Plateletderived growth factor-AB improves scar mechanics and vascularity after myocardial infarction. Sci Transl Med, 12.

182. McCall FC, Telukuntla KS, Karantalis V, Suncion VY, Heldman AW, Mushtaq M, Williams AR, Hare JM. (2012) Myocardial infarction and intramyocardial injection models in swine. Nat Protoc, 7: 1479-1496.

183. Pahlm US, Ubachs JF, Heiberg E, Engblom H, Erlinge D, Götberg M, Arheden H. (2014) Regional wall function before and after acute myocardial infarction; an experimental study in pigs. BMC Cardiovasc Disord, 14: 118.

184. Baranyai T, Giricz Z, Varga ZV, Koncsos G, Lukovic D, Makkos A, Sarkozy M, Pavo N, Jakab A, Czimbalmos C, Vago H, Ruzsa Z, Toth L, Garamvolgyi R, Merkely B, Schulz R, Gyongyosi M, Ferdinandy P. (2017) In vivo MRI and ex vivo histological assessment of the cardioprotection induced by ischemic preconditioning, postconditioning and remote conditioning in a closed-chest porcine model of reperfused acute myocardial infarction: importance of microvasculature. J Transl Med, 15: 67.

185. Petersen SE, Aung N, Sanghvi MM, Zemrak F, Fung K, Paiva JM, Francis JM, Khanji MY, Lukaschuk E, Lee AM, Carapella V, Kim YJ, Leeson P, Piechnik SK, Neubauer S. (2017) Reference ranges for cardiac structure and function using cardiovascular magnetic resonance (CMR) in Caucasians from the UK Biobank population cohort. J Cardiovasc Magn Reson, 19: 18.

186. Bellera N, Barba I, Rodriguez-Sinovas A, Ferret E, Asin MA, Gonzalez-Alujas MT, Perez-Rodon J, Esteves M, Fonseca C, Toran N, Garcia Del Blanco B, Perez A, Garcia-Dorado D. (2014) Single intracoronary injection of encapsulated antagomir-92a promotes angiogenesis and prevents adverse infarct remodeling. J Am Heart Assoc, 3: e000946.

187. Sharp TE, 3rd, Schena GJ, Hobby AR, Starosta T, Berretta RM, Wallner M, Borghetti G, Gross P, Yu D, Johnson J, Feldsott E, Trappanese DM, Toib A, Rabinowitz JE, George JC, Kubo H, Mohsin S, Houser SR. (2017) Cortical Bone Stem Cell Therapy Preserves Cardiac Structure and Function After Myocardial Infarction. Circ Res, 121: 1263-1278.

188. Crisostomo V, Baez-Diaz C, Maestre J, Garcia-Lindo M, Sun F, Casado JG, Blazquez R, Abad JL, Palacios I, Rodriguez-Borlado L, Sanchez-Margallo FM. (2015) Delayed administration of allogeneic cardiac stem cell therapy for acute myocardial infarction could ameliorate adverse remodeling: experimental study in swine. J Transl Med, 13: 156.

189. Uitterdijk A, Springeling T, van Kranenburg M, van Duin RW, Krabbendam-Peters I, Gorsse-Bakker C, Sneep S, van Haeren R, Verrijk R, van Geuns RJ, van der Giessen WJ, Markkula T, Duncker DJ, van Beusekom HM. (2015) VEGF165A microsphere therapy for myocardial infarction suppresses acute cytokine release and increases microvascular density but does not improve cardiac function. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol, 309: H396-406.

190. Vilahur G, Casani L, Peña E, Juan-Babot O, Mendieta G, Crespo J, Badimon L. (2014) HMG-CoA reductase inhibition prior reperfusion improves reparative fibrosis post-myocardial infarction in a preclinical experimental model. Int J Cardiol, 175: 528-538.

191. Vilahur G, Cubedo J, Casani L, Padro T, Sabate-Tenas M, Badimon JJ, Badimon L. (2013) Reperfusion-triggered stress protein response in the myocardium is blocked by post-conditioning. Systems biology pathway analysis highlights the key role of the canonical aryl-hydrocarbon receptor pathway. Eur Heart J, 34: 2082-2093.

192. Zalewski J, Claus P, Bogaert J, Driessche NV, Driesen RB, Galan DT, Sipido KR, Buszman P, Milewski K, Van de Werf F. (2015) Cyclosporine A reduces microvascular obstruction and preserves left ventricular function deterioration following myocardial ischemia and reperfusion. Basic Res Cardiol, 110: 18.

193. Galvez-Monton C, Prat-Vidal C, Diaz-Guemes I, Crisostomo V, Soler-Botija C, Roura S, Llucia-Valldeperas A, Perea-Gil I, Sanchez-Margallo FM, Bayes-Genis A. (2014) Comparison of two preclinical myocardial infarct models: coronary coil deployment versus surgical ligation. J Transl Med, 12: 137.

194. Ghugre NR, Pop M, Barry J, Connelly KA, Wright GA. (2013) Quantitative magnetic resonance imaging can distinguish remodeling mechanisms after acute myocardial infarction based on the severity of ischemic insult. Magn Reson Med, 70: 1095-1105.

195. Sim DS, Jeong MH, Song HC, Kim J, Chong A, Bom HS, Jeong IS, Oh SG, Kim JM, Park DS, Kim JH, Lim KS, Kim MS, Ryu SH, Kim HK, Kim SS, Jang SY, Cho JY, Jeong HC, Lee KH, Park KH, Yoon NS, Yoon HJ, Kim KH, Hong YJ, Park HW, Kim JH, Ahn Y, Cho JG, Park JC, Kang JC. (2015) Cardioprotective effect of fimasartan, a new angiotensin receptor blocker, in a porcine model of acute myocardial infarction. J Korean Med Sci, 30: 34-43.

196. Schuleri KH, Boyle AJ, Centola M, Amado LC, Evers R, Zimmet JM, Evers KS, Ostbye KM, Scorpio DG, Hare JM, Lardo AC. (2008) The adult Gottingen minipig as a model for chronic heart failure after myocardial infarction: focus on cardiovascular imaging and regenerative therapies. Comp Med, 58: 568-579.

197. Koudstaal S, Jansen of Lorkeers S, Gho JM, van Hout GP, Jansen MS, Grundeman PF, Pasterkamp G, Doevendans PA, Hoefer IE, Chamuleau SA. (2014) Myocardial infarction and functional outcome assessment in pigs. J Vis Exp, doi:10.3791/51269.

198. de Jong R, van Hout GP, Houtgraaf JH, Takashima S, Pasterkamp G, Hoefer I, Duckers HJ. (2015) Cardiac function in a long-term follow-up study of moderate and severe porcine model of chronic myocardial infarction. Biomed Res Int, 2015: 209315.

199. Raake PWJ, Barthelmes J, Krautz B, Buss S, Huditz R, Schlegel P, Weber C, Stangassinger M, Haberkorn U, Katus HA, Most P, Pleger ST. (2019) Comprehensive cardiac phenotyping in large animals: comparison of pressure-volume analysis and cardiac magnetic resonance imaging in pig post-myocardial infarction systolic heart failure. Int J Cardiovasc Imaging, 35: 1691-1699.

200. Burns RJ, Gibbons RJ, Yi Q, Roberts RS, Miller TD, Schaer GL, Anderson JL, Yusuf S. (2002) The relationships of left ventricular ejection fraction, end-systolic volume index and infarct size to six-month mortality after hospital discharge following myocardial infarction treated by thrombolysis. J Am Coll Cardiol, 39: 30-36.

201. Cohn JN, Ferrari R, Sharpe N. (2000) Cardiac remodeling--concepts and clinical implications: a consensus paper from an international forum on cardiac remodeling. Behalf of an International Forum on Cardiac Remodeling. J Am Coll Cardiol, 35: 569-582.

202. Migrino RQ, Young JB, Ellis SG, White HD, Lundergan CF, Miller DP, Granger CB, Ross AM, Califf RM, Topol EJ. (1997) End-systolic volume index at 90 to 180 minutes into reperfusion therapy for acute myocardial infarction is a strong predictor of early and late mortality. The Global Utilization of Streptokinase and t-PA for Occluded Coronary Arteries (GUSTO)-I Angiographic Investigators. Circulation, 96: 116-121.

203. White HD, Norris RM, Brown MA, Brandt PW, Whitlock RM, Wild CJ. (1987) Left ventricular end-systolic volume as the major determinant of survival after recovery from myocardial infarction. Circulation, 76: 44-51.

204. Asgeirsson D, Hedstrom E, Jogi J, Pahlm U, Steding-Ehrenborg K, Engblom H, Arheden H, Carlsson M. (2017) Longitudinal shortening remains the principal component of left ventricular pumping in patients with chronic myocardial infarction even when the absolute atrioventricular plane displacement is decreased. BMC Cardiovasc Disord, 17: 208.

205. Pfeffer MA, Lamas GA, Vaughan DE, Parisi AF, Braunwald E. (1988) Effect of captopril on progressive ventricular dilatation after anterior myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med, 319: 80-86.

206. McKay RG, Pfeffer MA, Pasternak RC, Markis JE, Come PC, Nakao S, Alderman JD, Ferguson JJ, Safian RD, Grossman W. (1986) Left ventricular remodeling after myocardial infarction: a corollary to infarct expansion. Circulation, 74: 693-702.

207. Savoye C, Equine O, Tricot O, Nugue O, Segrestin B, Sautière K, Elkohen M, Pretorian EM, Taghipour K, Philias A, Aumégeat V, Decoulx E, Ennezat PV, Bauters C. (2006) Left ventricular remodeling after anterior wall acute myocardial infarction in modern clinical practice (from the REmodelage VEntriculaire [REVE] study group). Am J Cardiol, 98: 1144-1149.

208. Meris A, Amigoni M, Uno H, Thune JJ, Verma A, Køber L, Bourgoun M, McMurray JJ, Velazquez EJ, Maggioni AP, Ghali J, Arnold JM, Zelenkofske S, Pfeffer MA, Solomon SD. (2009) Left atrial remodelling in patients with myocardial infarction complicated by heart failure, left ventricular dysfunction, or both: the VALIANT Echo study. Eur Heart J, 30: 56-65.

209. Meyer P, Filippatos GS, Ahmed MI, Iskandrian AE, Bittner V, Perry GJ, White M, Aban IB, Mujib M, Dell'Italia LJ, Ahmed A. (2010) Effects of right ventricular ejection fraction on outcomes in chronic systolic heart failure. Circulation, 121: 252-258. 210. Condrat CE, Thompson DC, Barbu MG, Bugnar OL, Boboc A, Cretoiu D, Suciu N, Cretoiu SM, Voinea SC. (2020) miRNAs as Biomarkers in Disease: Latest Findings Regarding Their Role in Diagnosis and Prognosis. Cells, 9.

211. Nishimura Y, Kondo C, Morikawa Y, Tonomura Y, Torii M, Yamate J, Uehara T. (2015) Plasma miR-208 as a useful biomarker for drug-induced cardiotoxicity in rats. J Appl Toxicol, 35: 173-180.

212. Sandhu H, Maddock H. (2014) Molecular basis of cancer-therapy-induced cardiotoxicity: introducing microRNA biomarkers for early assessment of subclinical myocardial injury. Clin Sci (Lond), 126: 377-400.

9. Bibliography of the candidate's publications9.1. Own publications involved in the current thesis

 Brenner GB, Makkos A, Nagy CT, Onódi Z, Sayour NV, Gergely TG, Kiss B, Görbe A, Sághy É, Zádori ZS, Lázár B, Baranyai T, Varga RS, Husti Z, Varró A, Tóthfalusi L, Schulz R, Baczkó I, Giricz Z, Ferdinandy P. (2020) Hidden Cardiotoxicity of Rofecoxib Can be Revealed in Experimental Models of Ischemia/Reperfusion. Cells, 9.

2. Brenner GB, Giricz Z, Garamvölgyi R, Makkos A, Onódi Z, Sayour NV, Gergely TG, Baranyai T, Petneházy Ö, Kőrösi D, Szabó GP, Vago H, Dohy Z, Czimbalmos C, Merkely B, Boldin-Adamsky S, Feinstein E, Horváth IG, Ferdinandy P. (2021) Post-Myocardial Infarction Heart Failure in Closed-chest Coronary Occlusion/Reperfusion Model in Göttingen Minipigs and Landrace Pigs. Journal of Visualized Experiments, doi:10.3791/61901.

9.2. Own publications not involved in the current thesis

1. László SB, Lázár B, Brenner GB, Makkos A, Balogh M, Al-Khrasani M, Hutka B, Mohammadzadeh A, Kemény Á, László T, Scheich B, Szabados T, Kenyeres É, Giricz Z, Bencsik P, Varga ZV, Novák J, Helyes Z, Ferdinandy P, Gyires K, Zádori ZS. (2020) Chronic treatment with rofecoxib but not ischemic preconditioning of the myocardium ameliorates early intestinal damage following cardiac ischemia/reperfusion injury in rats. Biochem Pharmacol, 178: 114099.

2. Lázár B, Brenner GB, Makkos A, Balogh M, László SB, Al-Khrasani M, Hutka B, Bató E, Ostorházi E, Juhász J, Kemény Á, László T, Tiszlavicz L, Bihari Z, Giricz Z, Szabó D, Helyes Z, Ferdinandy P, Gyires K, Zádori ZS. (2019) Lack of Small Intestinal Dysbiosis Following Long-Term Selective Inhibition of Cyclooxygenase-2 by Rofecoxib in the Rat. Cells, 8.

3. Onódi Z, Pelyhe C, Terézia Nagy C, Brenner GB, Almási L, Kittel Á, Manček-Keber M, Ferdinandy P, Buzás EI, Giricz Z. (2018) Isolation of High-Purity Extracellular Vesicles by the Combination of Iodixanol Density Gradient Ultracentrifugation and Bind-Elute Chromatography From Blood Plasma. Front Physiol, 9: 1479. 4. Pečan P, Hambalkó S, Ha VT, Nagy CT, Pelyhe C, Lainšček D, Kenyeres B, Brenner GB, Görbe A, Kittel Á, Barteková M, Ferdinandy P, Manček-Keber M, Giricz Z. (2020) Calcium Ionophore-Induced Extracellular Vesicles Mediate Cytoprotection against Simulated Ischemia/Reperfusion Injury in Cardiomyocyte-Derived Cell Lines by Inducing Heme Oxygenase 1. Int J Mol Sci, 21.

5. Szoták-Ajtay K, Szõke D, Kovács G, Andréka J, Brenner GB, Giricz Z, Penninger J, Kahn ML, Jakus Z. (2020) Reduced Prenatal Pulmonary Lymphatic Function Is Observed in Clp1 (K/K) Embryos With Impaired Motor Functions Including Fetal Breathing Movements in Preparation of the Developing Lung for Inflation at Birth. Front Bioeng Biotechnol, 8: 136.

6. Varga ZV, Pipicz M, Baán JA, Baranyai T, Koncsos G, Leszek P, Kuśmierczyk M, Sánchez-Cabo F, García-Pavía P, Brenner GJ, Giricz Z, Csont T, Mendler L, Lara-Pezzi E, Pacher P, Ferdinandy P. (2017) Alternative Splicing of NOX4 in the Failing Human Heart. Front Physiol, 8: 935.

10. Acknowledgements

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to the people, without whom I would not have been able to complete my PhD studies.

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Dr. Zoltán Giricz for his support, guidance and patience. I am also very thankful to Prof. Dr. Péter Ferdinandy, director of the Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy, Semmelweis University.

I would like to express my appreciation for my Colleagues in the Cardiovascular and Metabolic and the MTA-SE System Pharmacology Research Group of the Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy, Semmelweis University.

I would like to thank the research students especially Dr. Sayour Nabil and Dr. Tamás Gergely for their collaborative effort during previous years.

I would like to express my thanks to all the members of the Pharmahungary Group.

Furthermore, I would like to thank all the Colleagues in the Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy University of Szeged, Moritz Kaposi Somogy County Teaching Hospital, Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences in Kaposvar, Heart and Vascular Center of Semmelweis University, Quark Pharmaceuticals, Heart Institute of Medical School of University of Pécs,

I cannot forget to thank my lovely family, especially my Mom, Brother, Wife, Daughter and friends for all the support during these very intense years of PhD studies.

The present studies were supported by the National Research, Development and Innovation Officece of Hungary (NKFIA; NVKP-16-1-2016-0017 National Heart Program), the Higher Education Institutional Excellence Programme of the Ministry of Human Capacities in Hungary (within the framework of the Therapeutic development thematic programme of the Semmelweis University), Quark Pharmaceuticals Inc, MTA-SE System Pharmacology Research Group (Department of Pharmacology and Pharmacotherapy, Semmelweis University, Budapest, Hungary).

GB.B. was supported by EFOP-3.6.3-VEKOP-16-2017-00009 and Richter Gedeon Inc. scholarship.